




OUR MISSION  
KEY INSURANCE is committed to protecting 

its policyholders by providing quality products, 

excellent service, and security of assets, through 

constant product and technological improvement 

by highly motivated and competent staff.   

OUR VISION  
Servicing Your Needs - To satisfy our customers 

by providing the best possible insurance

protection of assets in Jamaica.   





NOTICE OF ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING

ORDINARY BUSINESS

1. To receive the report of the Board of Directors 

and the Audited Financial Statements for the year 

ended 31 December 2021 circulated herewith.

To consider and (if thought fit) pass the following 
resolution: -

RESOLUTION NO. 1

“THAT the Audited Financial Statements for the 

year ended 31 December 2021 and the reports 

of the Directors and Auditors circulated with the 
Notice convening the meeting be and are hereby 

adopted.”

2. To elect Directors

To consider and (if thought fit) pass the following 
resolution: -

RESOLUTION NO. 2a

“THAT the following Directors who retire by 
rotation in accordance with Article 97 of the 
Company’s Articles of Incorporation and who 
being eligible, offer themselves for 

re-appointment be hereby re-appointed.”

(a) Mariame McIntosh Robinson
(b) Kareem Tomlinson
(c) Rochelle Cameron

RESOLUTION NO. 2b

“THAT Heather Goldson, having been appointed 

by the Board as a Director in 2021, now retires 
in accordance with Article 103 of the Company’s 
Articles of Incorporation and who being eligible, 
offers herself for re-appointment be hereby

re-appointed.”

3. To appoint Auditors and authorize the Directors 

to fix the remuneration of the Auditors.

To consider and (if thought fit) pass the following 
resolutions: -

RESOLUTION NO. 3

“THAT PricewaterhouseCoopers, Chartered 
Accountants, having signified their willingness to 
serve, continue in the office as Auditors of the 
Company pursuant to Section 154 of the Companies 

Act to hold office until the conclusion of the next 
Annual General Meeting at a remuneration to be 
fixed by the Directors of the Company.”

4. To fix the fees of the Directors.

To consider and (if thought fit) pass the following 
resolution: -

RESOLUTION NO. 4

“THAT the amount shown in the Accounts of the 
Company for the year ended 31 December 2021 as 

fees of the Directors for their services as Directors 

be and is hereby approved.”

SPECIAL BUSINESS

5. To amend the Articles of Incorporation of the 

Company by special resolution.

To consider and (if thought fit) pass the following 
resolution: -

RESOLUTION NO. 5

“THAT pursuant to section 10 of the Companies 

Act, the Articles of Incorporation of the Company 

be altered by adding after Article 145, the following 
Article to be numbered 145A:

“145A. Notwithstanding Article 145 and any 
other provision of these Articles, a notice or any 

document to be given by the Company to its 

members may be given by:

NOTICE is hereby given that the Annual General Meeting of KEY INSURANCE COMPANY LIMITED 

(hereinafter referred to as “the Company”) will be held as a virtual-only meeting on Tuesday, June 21, 
2022 at 2:00 p.m. for the following purposes:

Key Insurance Company Limited

5Annual Report 2021



NOTICE OF ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING

i) Uploading, publishing, or otherwise making 
the notice or document available electronically 

via the Company’s website and/or the website of 
the Jamaica Stock Exchange (for as lo ng as the 
Company remains a listed company) and/or the 
website of any other regulator or exchange on 
which the Company is listed; or  

ii) Publishing the notice or document in a daily 
newspaper printed and circulated in Jamaica. 

Where a notice or document is given or made 

available via a website (as provided in sub-
clause (i) of Article 145A), service of such notice 
or document shall be deemed to be effected at 

the expiration of twenty-four (24) hours after 
the notice or document is first made available. 
Any notice or document published in a daily 

newspaper shall be deemed to be served on the 
date of publication.

For the purposes of this Article 145A the term 

“document” shall include notices of General 

Meetings, resolutions, circulars, proxy forms, 

financials including profit and loss accounts, 
balance sheets and auditor’s reports and any other 

document or information the Company is required 

to or may decide to give to its members.

By subscribing for and/or holding shares in the 
Company, each member hereby consents to 

the provision of notices and other documents 

electronically as contemplated in this Article 

145A.”

Instructions Accompanying the Notice: 

1. Shareholders will be able to register for the Annual General Meeting using their JCSD number via 
the Company’s website at https://keyinsurancejm.com/dashboards/annual_general_meeting_2022. The 

registration process must be completed in order to gain admission to the meeting.

2. Any shareholder entitled to attend and vote at this meeting is also entitled to appoint one or more 

proxies to attend and vote on his/her behalf. Such proxies need not be shareholders of the Company. 
Instruments appointing proxies (a specimen of which has been circulated along with the Company’s 
Annual Report) must include the proxy holder’s Taxpayer Registration Number and should be deposited 
with the Corporate Secretary of the Company at 6c Half Way Tree Read, Kingston 5, not less than 48 
hours prior to the meeting.

By Order of the Board 

 

 

Kerry-Ann Heavens 

Company Secretary 

Key Insurance Company Limited 

Dated: April 29, 2022 

Key Insurance Company Limited

6Annual Report 2021



DIRECTORS AND CORPORATE DATA 

Key Insurance Company Limited

Directors                           

• Don Wehby, Chairman 

• Herma McRae   

• Linval Freeman   

• Mariame McIntosh Robinson   

• Kareem Tomlinson   

• Sandra Masterton   

• Rochelle Cameron   

• Heather Goldson*   

• Kerry-Ann Heavens   

Registered Office   

6C Half-Way-Tree Road, 

Kingston 5  

Registrar  

Jamaica Central Securities  

Depository,

40 Harbour Street

Kingston 

*Mrs. Goldson was appointed to the 

Board on May 6, 2021. Website 

www.keyinsurancejm.com

Company Secretary   

Kerry-Ann Heavens   

Assistant Company 

Secretary  

Sharon Prendergast  

Auditors   

PricewaterhouseCoopers   

Scotiabank Centre, Duke Street  

Kingston, Jamaica   

Bankers  

• First Global Bank Limited  

• Sagicor Bank Jamaica Limited  

• National Commercial Bank Limited  
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CHAIRMAN’S MESSAGE

Key Insurance Company Limited

It is with great pride that I present the Key 
Insurance Company Limited (Key) Annual Report 
for 2021. We have so much to be thankful for, and 
countless achievements to celebrate, especially 

given the difficult times we have faced during 
the COVID-19 pandemic over the past two years. 
Despite the myriad of challenges, Key has emerged 

as a profitable, first-rate insurance enterprise in 
Jamaica.

I must commend Key’s amazing team, Board 

of Directors, our shareholders, and our valued 

customers, for their ongoing commitment and 

invaluable investment in Key. Without you, none of 

what we accomplished this past year would have 
been possible.  Together, in 2021 we were able to 
rewrite the future of Key, which realized its first net 
profit in years.

Our 2021 performance is owed largely to the laser-
focused strategy which was developed by the Board 
in 2020 and which has since been executed by Key’s 
management team. The strategic drivers for Key 

cover four areas: sustained growth and innovation; 
consumer centricity; improved business processes 
for greater efficiency; and a performance-driven 
culture. Through the activation of these growth-
efficient drivers, 

Key closed 2021 with pre-tax profits of $237.64 
million, a 153% upturn when compared to 2020. 
It is remarkable, the way in which our Key team 
has navigated the challenges, to generate a year 

of stellar results.

A few of the milestones which critically shaped 
our Key Insurance 2021 success story were, our 
renounceable rights issue which generated $668 
million and the sale of an investment property 

resulting in a gain of $22.64 million included 
in other income. We also achieved several key 
targets in 2021 including underwriting successes, 
strengthening of our risk management 
framework, and the launch of new product 
portfolios, including online solutions as part of 

our digital transformation.

Key’s customers continue to be prioritized with 
every step we take, in keeping with our vision 
to satisfy our customers by providing the best 

possible insurance protection of assets in 

Jamaica. In 2021 our customer portfolio saw an 
increase of 15% compared to the 10% increase 

seen in 2020, and consumer confidence in our 
business is also improving.

As we look to the future and seek to sustain this 
commendable performance, the Key team must 

remain resilient, competent, and motivated. 

To that end, we continue to nurture a high-
performance environment where our team 
members are regularly engaged in development 

programmes. In this, GraceKennedy’s 100th year 

in operation, I know I speak on behalf of the 
entire GK team when I say how proud we are to 
have Key as part of our GK Family.

I am confident that 2022 and beyond will 
yield even greater successes for Key, as we 
work together to take hold of a larger share of 
Jamaica’s insurance market.

Again, many thanks to all our stakeholders for 
your continued support.

Please continue to stay safe.

Don Wehby 
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT  

Key Insurance Company Limited

The Board and Management of Key Insurance Company Limited (Key Insurance/the Company) 
are firmly committed to principles of good corporate governance. These principles emphasize 
transparency, accountability and independence providing a solid foundation for prudent management 

and the enhancement of shareholder value. 

The Company’s corporate governance framework is designed to facilitate the effective execution of 
strategy and the prudent management of risk with the appropriate oversight of the Board. In 2021, 
the implementation of and strict adherence to corporate governance best practices served to fuel 

the Company’s transformation.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE FRAMEWORK  

RESPONSIBILITIES OF THE BOARD AND MANAGEMENT

The Board continues to play a pivotal role, providing overall strategic guidance  within a framework of 
prudent and effective controls which enables risk to be assessed and managed. The Board provides 
guidance and oversight, and monitors management’s execution of the Company’s strategic objectives. 
The values by which the Board operates promote respect, integrity, trust, fairness and responsible 
behaviour by the Company in relation to its employees, customers, suppliers, shareholders, and all 

other stakeholders, as well as the wider community.

The Company is managed by a competent and efficient team led by the General Manager, Mrs. 
Tammara Glaves-Hucey. Mrs. Glaves-Hucey is supported by Senior Executives including the Chief 
Financial Officer, Mr. Stuart Andrade, Reinsurance and Non-Motor Manager, Ms. Carlene Isaacs, and 
Claims Manager, Mrs. Heather Bowie**. The members of the management team have a wealth of 
academic training and extensive work experience and expertise in the insurance industry.  
  

  ** Mrs. Bowie proceeded on early retirement effective December 31, 2021.  

BOARD COMPOSITION

The Board is comprised of nine (9) non-executive Directors; five (5) of whom are also considered to 
be independent. An independent Director is a non-executive Director who is free from any interest, 
position, affiliation or relationship that might influence or reasonably be perceived to influence, in 
a material respect, his or her capacity to bring independent judgment to bear on issues before the 
Board and to act in the Company’s best interests.

The Directors of Key Insurance collectively possess the capacity, skills, and acumen to enable the 
Board to effectively fulfill its function. The Board fosters a culture of frank and robust debate. 
Directors are encouraged to engage in rigorous discussions, speak candidly, disagree strongly whilst 
holding itself collectively responsible for the decisions reached in the best interest of the Company. 

Board members are required to attend Board and assigned committee meetings regularly and to 

prepare for and participate actively in meetings.

Directors provide constructive operational feedback and assist in the development of strategic 
proposals. They scrutinize the performance of management, agree on goals and objectives, and 
monitor the reporting of performance. They also take the necessary steps to satisfy themselves of 
the integrity of financial information presented and ensure that financial controls and systems of risk 
management are robust and defensible.
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*Mrs. Goldson was appointed to the Board on May 6, 2021 

The following table sets out the current composition of the Board including each Directors’ status, 
academic qualifications and relevant expertise.
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DIVERSITY

The Board of Key Insurance recognizes the importance of diversity and strives for the right mix 

of skills and competencies along with an appropriate balance in respect of age and gender. This 
approach allows for a range of expertise on the Board, supporting a broader perspective in decision-
making. Our current gender and age mix are outlined below:  
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BOARD SUB-COMMITTEES   

The Board is supported by four Committees, namely: the Corporate Governance Nomination and 

Compensation Committee (CGNCC), the Audit Committee, the Conduct Review Committee (CRC), 
and the Investment and Loan Committee. In keeping with good  governance principles, the decisions 
of the Committees are reported directly or ultimately to the Board for approval or ratification.  Each 
Board Committee is governed by a Terms of Reference (TOR) which sets out its responsibilities and 
deliverables. The TOR for each Committee  has been approved by the  Board and is reviewed and 
revised, at least annually.
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For the period under review the Directors were compensated as follows:  

BOARD REMUNERATION

**Directors that are otherwise employed within the GK Group are not eligible to receive Directors’ fees.  

BOARD MEETING ATTENDANCE  
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The Company supports the effective induction and ongoing development of its Board of Directors. Directors 

are provided with an induction package upon appointment and annual ongoing professional development 
training opportunities to enable them to maintain the skills and knowledge needed to perform their roles 
effectively. Training sessions are also geared towards keeping the Board abreast of developments in the market. 
The training schedule for 2021 included:

BOARD TRAINING AND DEVELOPMENT  
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To be effective, a Board must reflect on its performance individually and collectively and identify 
opportunities for improvement. Accordingly, the Board of Key Insurance undertakes a formal 
annual evaluation of its performance and that of its committees. The evaluation is conducted by the 

GraceKennedy Group’s Business Intelligence Unit and is administered electronically. The evaluation 

focuses on the Board’s overall performance, which is captured by questions related to its structure, 
culture, the conduct of meetings, and its ability to monitor risks and trends.

The results of the survey conducted in 2021 has been used to, among other things, inform the Board’s 

decision to appoint a new director and to increase the number of insurance-sector specific training 
sessions.

BOARD EVALUATION   

NOMINATION AND APPOINTMENT OF NEW DIRECTORS 

COMPANY SECRETARY 

COMMUNICATION

The Corporate Governance Nominations and Compensation Committee (CGNCC) ensures that the 
Board’s composition, structure and policies not only comply with regulations, but supports the 
achievement of the Company’s strategic objectives. The CGNCC is also responsible for the nomination 
and appointment of new Directors. Upon identification of a potential candidate, a series of interviews 
take place, the results are discussed, and recommendations made to the Board for the appointment of 
the individual as a new Director. Prior to the nomination, background checks are undertaken to ensure 
that the candidate possesses the requisite qualities of honesty, integrity and trust. The Board recognizes 

the importance of diversity when selecting Directors as it derives strength from its independence, skills 
and expertise of its members.

On appointment to the Board, all Directors must be approved as ‘Fit and Proper’ by the Financial 

Services Commission.

The appointment and removal of the Company Secretary is subject to Board approval. The Company 
Secretary is directly accountable to the Board, through the Chairman, to ensure:

• the proper functioning of the Board;
• that there is timely communication to stakeholders including the Financial Services Commission 

and the Jamaica Stock Exchange (JSE); and
• that the Company strictly adheres to the JSE’s Main Market Rules and all other regulatory obligations.

In 2021, the Board considered it prudent to appoint Sharon Prendergast as the Assistant Company 

Secretary to aid the Company Secretary in the discharge of the obligations attached to this role.

The Board is committed to the provision of 

timely, accurate and meaningful information to 

its shareholders. The Company’s shareholders 

are kept apprised of significant developments 
as well as routine reporting obligations primarily 
through the publication of information on the 

Jamaica Stock Exchange’s and the Company’s 
website. Information is also disseminated via 
the Company’s social media platforms.
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GOVERNANCE POLICIES

The Company’s Annual General Meeting (AGM) also provides shareholders with the opportunity 
to obtain information on the Company’s strategy and overall performance. In 2021, Key Insurance 

successfully hosted its second virtual AGM. Shareholders were able to actively participate using 
electronic voting mechanisms as well as direct questions to the Board and Management team. In 
recognition that the provision of financial information is one of the most critical duties owed by the 
Company to its shareholders, the Board of Key Insurance recently decided to exercise the option to 

publish the Company’s 2021 Audited Financial Statements within 60-days of the financial year end.  
This change was implemented to facilitate earlier access to more accurate and reliable information to 
assist stakeholders in decision making.

Code of Ethics

Key Insurance, being a subsidiary of GraceKennedy Financial Group Limited, has  adopted the 

GraceKennedy Group’s (GK Group) Code of Ethics and Guidelines of Business Conduct (the Code of 
Ethics). The Code of Ethics binds Directors and employees of the Company to the highest standards of 
professionalism and due diligence in discharging their duties. It provides guidance on the management 

of conflicts of interest, confidentiality and responsibility of the Directors and employees . The Company 
is committed to providing an environment that promotes the highest levels of honesty, integrity and 

ethical conduct.

Corporate Governance Code

The Corporate Governance Code provides the framework for the Company to achieve its strategic 
objectives whilst complying with its various regulatory obligations. The structure, role, and responsibility 
of the Board are outlined in the  Corporate Governance Code, which can be accessed via the Company’s 
website at https://keyinsurancejm.com.

The Corporate Governance Code is reviewed every two years.

Conflict of Interest

Annually, Directors and employees of the Company are required to submit declarations disclosing their 

business interests. This process is governed by the Code of Ethics, which stipulates that Directors and 
employees are to avoid any action, position, or interest which conflicts with, or is perceived to conflict 
with, the Company’s interests or that of the wider GK Group. Directors are required to declare to the 
Board and employees of the Company any personal interest, whether direct or indirect (of ‘connected 
persons’), they may have in matters that would adversely affect the Company.

Insider Trading Policy

The Company has an Insider Trading Policy which seeks to ensure that key persons in the Company will 
not use insider information gained as a result of their role or positions to either trade in the Company’s 

securities or encourage others to do so.
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT  

Key Insurance Company Limited

Year Ended 31 December 2021  

The Directors are pleased to present their report for the year ended 31 December 2021 and submit 

herewith the financial position for Key Insurance Company Limited as at that date.   

OPERATING RESULTS  ($’000)

No dividends were declared or paid during the year.  

DIRECTORS 

The Directors as at 31 December 2021 were as follows:  

• Don Wehby (Chairman)  
• Herma McRae  
• Rochelle Cameron  

• Kareem Tomlinson  

• Linval Freeman  

• Sandra Masterton  
• Mariame McIntosh Robinson  
• Heather Goldson   (Appointed to the Board on May 6, 2021) 

• Kerry-Ann Heavens (Director & Company Secretary)  

AUDITORS  

Messrs. PricewaterhouseCoopers, the present Auditors, have signified their willingness to continue in 
office pursuant to the Companies Act of 2004. The Directors wish to express their appreciation to the 
Management and Staff for their achievements during the year. 

By Order of the Board   

Key Insurance Company Limited   

April 29, 2022

Don Wehby   

Chairman   
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DIRECTORS’ PROFILE 

Key Insurance Company Limited

DON WEHBY, 

CHAIRMAN  

Don Wehby was appointed Group Chief Executive Officer of GraceKennedy Limited 
on 1 July 2011. Prior to this appointment, he held the position of Group Chief Operating 

Officer from 5 October 2009.  

He joined GraceKennedy Limited in 1995 as Group Finance Manager and was appointed 
Deputy Finance Director in 1997. In that same year, he was appointed to the Board 
of Directors. In September 2007, he resigned from his positions and the Board of 
Directors to serve for two years as Government Senator and Minister without Portfolio 
in the Ministry of Finance and the Public Service. Following his two-year stint in public 
service, he was reappointed to the Board of Directors of GraceKennedy Limited in 
October 2009.   

A Fellow Chartered Accountant, Don Wehby holds a BSc (Hons) and a Master of 
Science in Accounting from the University of the West Indies. He also completed an 

Advanced Management College certificate course at Stanford University. 

LINVAL FREEMAN,

CHAIRMAN AUDIT COMMITTEE

Linval Freeman is a Chartered Certified Accountant and Fellow of the Institute of 
Chartered Accountants of Jamaica (FCA) and Fellow of the Association of Chartered 
Certified Accountants (FCCA). He also holds a Diploma in Business Administration 
from the University of Technology (UTECH). 

Between 2003 and 2018, he served as Director and Assurance Partner in the Jamaica 
office of Ernst & Young. In his first 10 years of practice, he was instrumental in the 
establishment of the Advisory Service Line and the growth and development of the 
Assurance Service Line. He retired from the partnership at the end of July 2018. 

Prior to his tenure at Ernst & Young, he served 21 years at PricewaterhouseCoopers. 
Linval has been Director and Chairman of the Audit Committees of Canopy Insurance 

Limited, Sygnus Real Estate Finance Limited and Sygnus Credit Investments Limited 

since 2019. 

MARIAME MCINTOSH ROBINSON,

CHAIRMAN LOANS & INVESTMENT COMMITTEE

Mariame McIntosh-Robinson joined First Global Bank Limited in 2016 as President and 
Chief Executive Officer. Prior to this, she was a partner at Portland Private Equity 
in the position of private equity investor for seven years. She was also a Strategy 
Consultant for eight years at McKinsey & Company’s Atlanta office and a Manager at 
Bain & Company, New York. 

At present, she serves as Vice President of the Private Sector Organization of Jamaica 

(PSOJ), and Board Chair of TEACH Caribbean, an educational NGO she
co-founded in 2006 with seed financing from Rhodes Trust to provide access to 
quality education for economically disadvantaged youth. 

She holds a BSc in Electrical Engineering from MIT, an MBA from Harvard Business 
School and an MPhil in Economics from Oxford University where she attended as a 
Rhodes Scholar. 
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KERRY-ANN HEAVENS,

COMPANY SECRETARY

Kerry-Ann Heavens, an Attorney-at-Law, was called to the Jamaican Bar in 2010. Her 
experience in the financial industry spans several years during which she specialized 
in corporate finance. 

In 2017, Kerry-Ann joined the GraceKennedy Financial Group providing legal advice 
and oversight for the companies within the Group, including First Global Bank and Key 
Insurance. Previously, she worked in the commercial department of a leading Jamaican 
law firm. 

Kerry-Ann, a Chevening Scholar, holds a Master of Corporate Law from the University 
of Cambridge, Certificate of Legal Education from the Norman Manley Law School, 
Bachelor of Laws (Hons) and BSc International Relations and Public Sector Management 
(Hons), University of the West Indies. 

ROCHELLE CAMERON,

CHAIRMAN CONDUCT REVIEW COMMITTEE

Rochelle Cameron is an Attorney-at-Law with over 20 years at the Jamaican Bar 
and a former Crown Counsel with the Office of the Director of Public Prosecutions. 
She has served as the Caribbean Vice President of Legal and Regulatory for a 

telecommunications multinational, Cable & Wireless Communications and Company 

Secretary of Cable & Wireless Jamaica Limited and its subsidiaries. 

She is the founder and Chief Executive of Prescient Consulting Services Limited, a firm 
which supports organisations in the development and execution of impactful legal, 
people and communications strategies.  

Rochelle holds an MBA in International Business from the Mona School of Business 
and Management, where she was a former lecturer. She is also a John Maxwell 
certified Coach, Trainer and Speaker. As a keynote speaker at local and international 
conferences, her inimitable “Adrenaline Roch” style of passion, high energy and sense 

of humour shapes her delivery of serious topics in an interesting and entertaining 

manner.

HERMA MCRAE 

Herma McRae is an Attorney-at-Law and a former banker. Her professional career 
began in banking at the National Commercial Bank Jamaica Limited  where she worked 
for over thirty years. 

Subsequent to her tenure at the bank, Herma pursued her lifelong desire to study 
law and was called to the Jamaican Bar in 2008. Thereafter, she served as Crown 
Counsel in the Commercial Affairs Division of the Attorney General’s Chambers (AGC) 
in Jamaica. In 2012, she left the AGC to start a civil practice specializing in commercial 

law. 

Herma holds the Legal Education Certificate from the Norman Manley Law School, 
LLB from the University of London, BSc Management Studies, an MBA in Finance from 
the University of the West Indies and ACIB from the Institute of Bankers (London). 
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KAREEM TOMLINSON

Kareem Tomlinson is General Manager of JMMB Securities Limited. Over his 14-year 
tenure with the JMMB Group, he has served in various capacities and has amassed 
wide-ranging experience in areas such as private equity, investment banking, portfolio 
management, mergers and acquisitions, risk management, accounting and customer 
service. 

Kareem holds a BSc in Mathematics and Economics from the University of the West 
Indies, and has attained the prestigious Chartered Financial Analyst (CFA) and 
Financial Risk Manager (FRM) designations, which have equipped him with strong 
technical and analytical skills. He has attended various professional training courses in 
venture capital, credit risk management, equity and fixed income products. 

SANDRA MASTERTON

Sandra Masterton is a Senior General Insurance Professional with over 31 years’ 
experience in Claims, Underwriting, and Reinsurance. 

She achieved the designation Fellow of the Insurance Institute of Canada in May 
1999, with a major in Underwriting from the University of Toronto, Canada. Directly 
following, she completed six months of training with the Munich Reinsurance Company 
of Canada in Treaty and Facultative Reinsurance. 

Sandra served as a Director of the Board of Key Insurance Company from July 1990 to 
May 2007 and was appointed Deputy Managing Director in June 2007. In August 2012, 
she was appointed by the Board of Directors as the Managing Director and remained 
in that capacity until March 2020. 

HEATHER GOLDSON

Heather Goldson is an experienced Marketing Executive with a proven track record 
of success in the banking and telecoms industries. She is experienced in areas such 
as Marketing Management, Customer Service, Advertising, Strategic Planning, and 
Marketing Strategy.  

She holds multiple roles in the Supreme Ventures Group including Deputy CMO – 
Shared Services at Supreme Ventures Limited (SVL). Prior to joining SVL, Heather held 
various roles including Regional Marketing Director at Scotiabank; SVP Marketing & 
Products at Scotiabank; and Marketing Director at Digicel Jamaica. 

 Heather holds a Bachelor of Business Administration (BBA) focused in International 
Business and Management from Florida International University - College of Business. 
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GENERAL MANAGER’S REPORT 

Key Insurance Company Limited

The year 2021 will forever be etched in the annals of 
Key Insurance success story. The Company enjoyed a 
winning year with most of the key metrics trending in 
the right direction. Our successes throughout the year 

are owing largely in part to the unwavering support 
of our staff. Our team displayed true commitment 

and resilience in making the Company stronger, even 
as we navigated the deadly COVID-19 pandemic.

We started the year by successfully raising additional 

capital amounting to $668 million through a 
renounceable rights issue in the first quarter. Key 
Insurance also sold its last remaining investment 

property during the first quarter, realizing a gain on 
the sale of $22.64 million. The cash from the sale of 
the property and the rights issue were used to assist 
in the repositioning of the investment portfolio, which 
then saw a 117% increase in our investment income 
year-over-year.

During the year, Key Insurance’s capital adequacy 

consistently surpassed the regulatory requirement 

Minimum Capital Test (MCT) of 250%. This was as a 
result of the execution of key strategic initiatives to 
include the rights issue, sale of investment property, 

keen management of the investment portfolio and 
the restructuring of the reinsurance arrangements. 

This augured well for the Company, especially during 
a year marred by the effects of the pandemic and 

other social challenges. Management and staff remain 
committed and motivated to build on last year’s solid 

performance to the benefit of all our stakeholders.

During the second quarter of 2021, Key Insurance 

officially launched its online service portal. This 
marked a significant milestone in our strategic digital 
transformation journey and is designed to meet the 
growing demands of our customers. The launch of 
the portal was a timely solution that improved the 
customer experience amidst the COVID-19 lockdowns. 
Customers now have increased accessibility to 
our products and services. They can conduct their 

business with us online, from anywhere in the world; 
requesting quotes, making payments, renewing 
policies, and filing claims at their convenience.

Through continued strategic realignment of the 

Company’s underwriting practices, our team achieved 
lower loss ratios and stronger underwriting 

results in 2021. The team remains focused on this area 

and looks forward to even greater results in 2022.  
Remarkably, we also continued to grow our customer 
base by a further 15% when compared to a growth 
rate of 10% recorded in 2020. We could not have 

achieved these stark results without our committed 
and engaged staff.

We are optimistic about our future despite the 

uncertainties and challenges that lie ahead. The 

Company’s journey and success would not be possible 
without our shareholders, our valued customers, 
and our outstanding team. Together, we were able 
to navigate rough terrain and provide affordable 

insurance solutions for many Jamaicans island-wide. 
We thank all our stakeholders and look forward to 
serving you again in 2022!

Tammara Glaves-Hucey
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THE EXECUTIVE TEAM  

Key Insurance Company Limited

Tammara has over 18 year’s experience in the general insurance industry. She 
assumed the role of General Manager at Key Insurance in 2020 when the Company 
was acquired by the GraceKennedy Financial Group. Her strategic focus is to 
transform the business and drive sustainable profitability. Before this assignment, 
she led the teams at GK General Insurance and GK Insurance (Eastern Caribbean) 
Ltd as Assistant General Manager and General Manager respectively. She has been 
very instrumental in GraceKennedy’s expansion in the Eastern Caribbean.

Tammara also worked at General Accident Insurance Company and Globe Insurance 
Company with responsibility for Claims Management.

She is a Chartered Insurer and Attorney-at-Law and is currently pursuing a master’s 
degree with a specialization in Strategy. In addition to a wealth of insurance 
industry experience, Tammara has participated in several leadership programmes 

and is a Director of GK Insurance Eastern Caribbean and an invitee to several 

GraceKennedy’s subsidiary boards.

TAMMARA GLAVES-HUCEY,

GENERAL MANAGER

Stuart is a Chartered Accountant and member of the Institute of Chartered 

Accountants of Jamaica with over 20 years of experience in finance and accounting.

He was appointed to the position of Chief Financial Officer on 1 July 2020. Before 
his appointment, Stuart worked in various capacities within the GraceKennedy 
Financial Group for more than 14 years. His former years of work were spent at 
PricewaterhouseCoopers and Chambers Henryand Partners as an auditor, which 
exposed him to several industries including manufacturing, finance and insurance.

Stuart is currently a member of the Boards of Directors of the Consumer Affairs 

Commission (CAC) and the Fair Trading Commission (FTC).

STUART ANDRADE,

CHIEF FINANCIAL OFFICER
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Heather is a trained teacher who entered the insurance industry in 1980. Her 
insurance career began at the Insurance Company of the West Indies (ICWI), and 
then at Key Insurance, where she held the position of Claims Operations Manager.  

She is a Fellow of the Chartered Insurance Institute (FCII), and a Chartered Insurance 
Practitioner (CIP). She also holds an MBA from the Manchester Business School, 
University of Manchester.  

Heather is currently a Board Member of the College of Insurance & Professional 
Studies (CIPS) and the Jamaica Society of Insurance Professionals & Technicians 
(JSIPT). She remains committed to the insurance industry and is a part-time lecturer.   

Heather proceeded on early retirement effective December 31, 2021, having served 

the Company for over 35 years. 

HEATHER BOWIE, 

CLAIMS MANAGER

Carlene is the Reinsurance Manager with over 25 years of experience in underwriting 
and reinsurance. She began her career in the industry as a Property Underwriter at 
JN General Insurance Company (formerly NEM Insurance Company).

She left the industry to pursue her first degree and upon completion, she joined 
the staff of United General Insurance Company (now Advantage General Insurance 
Company Limited) before re-joining JN General Insurance Company as Assistant 
Reinsurance Manager in 2005.

In 2009, she joined Key Insurance as Reinsurance Technician and was later promoted 
to Reinsurance Manager.

She holds a BSc in Management and Accounting from the University of the West 
Indies, a Diploma in Business Administration from the University of Technology, and 

a Diploma in Insurance from the College of Insurance and Professional Studies. She 

received training in Reinsurance at Heath Fielding Reinsurance Broking for three 
months and also completed the Mercantile and General International Reinsurance 
Course held in the United Kingdom.

CARLENE ISAACS,

REINSURANCE & NON-MOTOR MANAGER 
UNDERWRITING MANAGER
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MANAGEMENT TEAM
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND 
ANALYSIS (MD&A) 

Key Insurance Company Limited

MANAGEMENT’S REPRESENTATION  

The information contained in this MD&A may not include all the information that is important to
Key Insurance Company Limited’s (Key Insurance/ the Company) current or potential investors. This 
Annual Report should be read in its entirety for more detailed descriptions of events, uncertainties, 

trends, risks, and critical accounting estimates affecting the Company.

OUR BUSINESS   

Key Insurance was incorporated in 1982. It is domiciled in Jamaica, with Head Office located at 6c 
Half-Way-Tree Road, Kingston 5, and four other branches island-wide. Key Insurance also partners with 
agents and brokers across the island. The Company is licensed by the Financial Services Commission 
(FSC) to provide insurance protection for all classes of general insurance and currently offers motor, 
commercial, and personal property and casualty insurance coverage to the public. Key Insurance 

provides competitive rates in the market and is one of the most affordable providers of insurance 
coverage in Jamaica.

FINANCIAL PERFORMANCE   

Key Insurance delivered strong performance during a challenging year that was still besieged by 
the COVID-19 pandemic. Throughout this period, management and staff remained committed to the 
delivery of service to our clients at the highest standard.

Overall, total revenues grew by 33% in 2021 when compared with $1.64 billion in the prior year. The 
Company’s gross written premium grew by 34% in 2021 when compared to a 2% growth in 2020, 
despite the prevailing impact of the pandemic. This performance evidenced management’s focus on 

garnering greater market share, through growth initiatives implemented at the beginning of the second 
quarter of 2020, following the acquisition of the Company by GKFG.

The Company also recorded a commendable 10% compounded annual growth rate (CAGR) in gross 
written premium over the seven years growing from $0.96 billion in 2015 to $1.91 billion in 2021.

The growth in premiums can be attributed to an increase in the motor portfolio moving by 38.7% in 
2021 over the prior year. A significant portion of this risk improvement derived from our third-party 
portfolio as we continue to strengthen relationships and leverage partnerships.

Key Insurance also achieved several underwriting successes during the year some of which include:

• Restructured reinsurance arrangements

• Refreshed product offerings in line with the Company’s renewed direction
• Improved motor loss ratios from 61.4% in 2020 to 58.9% in 2021 

The renewed focus on the growth of investment and other income resulted in a noteworthy uplift in 
the Company’s profit before tax when compared with the prior year. Investment income, in particular, 
grew by 117% in 2021 over 2020 which is attributed primarily to the repositioning and more active 
management of the investment portfolio.

Other income in 2021 also experienced significant growth of 123% over 2020 primarily due to the gain 
on the sale of an investment property as well as foreign exchange gains.

28Annual Report 2021



OVERALL FINANCIAL PERFORMANCE   
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STRATEGIC DRIVERS  

The following are the strategic drivers that have been aiding and will continue to aid the Company’s 
return to profitability:  

1. Sustainable Growth and Innovation (targeting specific market segments)  

2. Customer Centricity (acquisition and relationship management)  

3. Operational Efficiency 

4. Performance-Driven Culture

FINANCIAL POSITION  

Shareholders’ equity increased by $815.7 million which was primarily due to the completion of our 
rights issue and net profits earned during the year. The growth in Shareholder’s equity significantly 
strengthened the Company’s capital adequacy. Proceeds from the rights issue and sale of investment 

property allowed the Company to rebalance its investment portfolio to generate greater income for the 
Company. Total assets increased during the year by over $1.5 billion or 54%, while liabilities increased 
by over $760 million or 29%.

FINANCIAL PERFORMANCE   

The Company’s profits improved from a loss before tax of $449.5 million in 2020 to a profit before tax 
of $237.6 million in 2021, generating a return on average equity of 24%. These results also highlight 
the notable improvement in the financial performance of the Company thereby improving value to its 
shareholders.

The Company remains optimistic about the future and is driven to continually fulfill its strategic 
objectives while returning consistent value to its stakeholders.
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In 2021, the Company utilized the 

Balanced Scorecard model to meas-

ure and monitor its 

performance

With a motivated staff and 

supportive customer base, the Com-

pany has  excelled.

LEARNING AND GROWTH

INTERNAL PROCESSES

CUSTOMER CENTRICITY

FINANCIAL PERFORMANCE

1

2

3

4

Key Insurance Company Limited
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COVID-19 IMPACT AND RESPONSE  

The pandemic negatively impacted the economy, the insurance sector and the Company. However, 
it allowed management and staff to demonstrate their resilience and the drive to succeed during the 
year.   

 

Several initiatives were implemented to counter the impact of the pandemic and ensure the sustainability 
of the Company. These initiatives included:    

a) The implementation of a work from home programme.

b) Provision of payment plan options for customers.

Additionally, several opportunities were identified and are presently being explored as they are 
expected to benefit all our stakeholders.     
 

The health and safety of all remain paramount, hence the deliberate steps to ensure that our environment 

remains safe. We also adhered to and implemented regulations under the Disaster Risk Management 
Act, and this resulted in the Company experiencing a COVID-19 positivity rate below the national 
average. 

PORTFOLIO OF NEW PRODUCTS   

During the year, the Company developed and rolled out two new products and a rider that garnered 
great interest from the market, namely:   

• Key Biz Protect Non-Motor Insurance Policy  

• Key PPV Protect Insurance Policy   

• Key Third Party with Brawta Policy (a new rider)  

Special discounts were also offered on various motor policies to help ameliorate the adverse financial 
effects the pandemic had on our customers.  
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RISK MANAGEMENT AND 
INTERNAL CONTROLS  

Key Insurance Company Limited

RISK MANAGEMENT

Risk management and effective internal controls have always formed a part of the Company’s 
strategy to build and sustain shareholders’ value. We have adopted a proactive and agile approach 

to risk management, particularly during this period of uncertainty and the challenges brought by the 
pandemic.  Therefore, all aspects of the business benefited from enhanced monitoring  and internal 
controls to ensure as best as possible that any threat to the viability of the business was mitigated.  
 

Since the introduction of the new management and Board of Directors in the second quarter of 2020, 
several steps were taken to augment the Company’s Risk Management Framework which now allows 
us to identify, assess, manage, monitor and report risk on a continual basis. 

Some of the main risks monitored on an ongoing basis are as follows:

• Operational Risk 
• Insurance Risk
• Market Risk  
• Catastrophic Events Risk 
• Financial Risk 
• Profitability Risk 
• Regulatory Compliance Risk  
• Credit Risk 
• Macro-economic Risk 
• Health and Safety Risk 
• Information Technology Security Risk  
• Going Concern Risk

The following are some of the risk management initiatives that were implemented 2021: 

• Introduction and implementation of the Company’s Business Continuity Plan 

• Introduction and implementation of the COVID-19 response team 
• Engagement of a new reinsurance broker to aid in the negotiation of new reinsurance        

contracts with our reinsurers  
• Introduction of a risk focal point 

INTERNAL CONTROLS  

We are constantly strengthening the efficacy of our internal controls by ensuring regular 
self-audits are completed and evaluated as we are aware that they are important to the success of the 
Company. They aid in risk management, ensuring that the Company’s business objectives are met at 
acceptable risk tolerance levels.  

Our internal auditors are also crucial to the Company and based on frequent assessments and the 

ensuing reports, we maintain a robust program of the evaluation, testing and improvement of controls 
and risk mitigants. The Audit Committee of The Board remained active during the 2021 financial year 
and met  seven times on various matters. 
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OUTLOOK 

The Company aims to build on the successes achieved during the year to enhance future growth and 
profitability. With the gradual reopening of the country, our team has begun the implementation of 
measures to benefit from the increased economic activity.  

Our strategy for 2022 and beyond will remain centered around our four (4) strategic drivers:
1.     Sustainable Growth and Innovation (targeting specific market segments)
2.    Customer Centricity (acquisition and relationship management)
3.    Operational Efficiency
4.    Performance-driven Culture

Our team members remain our most valuable asset and renewed focus will be placed on employee 
engagement and creating a high-performance environment for all to succeed. 
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HISTORICAL FINANCIAL DATA  
Key Insurance Company Limited
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HISTORICAL FINANCIAL DATA  
Key Insurance Company Limited
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DISCLOSURE OF SHAREHOLDINGS
TOP 10 SHAREHOLDINGS AS AT DECEMBER 31, 2021

DIRECTORS’ SHAREHOLDINGS AS AT DECEMBER 31, 2021

SENIOR MANAGEMENT’S SHAREHOLDINGS AS AT DECEMBER 31, 2021

Key Insurance Company Limited
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CORPORATE SOCIAL RESPONSIBILTY 
Key Insurance Company Limited

The People’s Insurer, Partner and Good Friend
Key Insurance has always been committed to being more than just an insurance service provider. We believe not only 
in supplying exemplary insurance products and services, but also in ensuring our communities are better for the people 

who live in them, because strong communities create a strong nation. 

This dedication to serving our community was heightened as the COVID-19 pandemic raged on. People were being 
forced to deal with the economic and social fallout which resulted from both the spread of the virus and the measures 
implemented to contain it. We also faced our own challenges, but still felt that being a good corporate citizen meant 
finding ways to help those who were struggling. 

Child’s Month activities

In May, observed nationally as Child’s Month, Key Insurance joined the effort to empower children under the theme ‘i strive 
to overcome adversities with resilience”

Several of our clients were struggling to provide the digital tools their children needed to meet the demands of online 
school which was triggered by the pandemic. So, we stepped in to fill the gap where it was needed. 

Jean’s Story
Jean*, a single mother of two, was also responsible for caring for her elderly mentally challenged mother. Due to COVID-19 
she was robbed of her only source of income, and her children were forced to use the only device she had – a mobile 
phone – to access their classes. 

Jack’s Story
Jack*, is also a single parent, and he was forced to decide whether to pay his motor insurance premium or pay for internet 
connection and a tablet for one of his children.  

KEY to the Rescue
Our team was moved by the hardships these parents and students were encountering and decided to do something 
about it. We donated nine tablets to children across six families in parishes where our branches are located. 
We were honoured to help our clients in their time of need and were also happy to see that the children were moved to 
believe again that they too can overcome any adversity with resilience. 
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CORPORATE SOCIAL RESPONSIBILTY 
Key Insurance Company Limited

Giving Our Best
As 2021 came to a close, we donated J$100,000 to the Best Care Foundation to support the learning of over 200 
students with special needs, enrolled at the Best Care Special Education School.

The money will be used to help students to benefit from an improved learning environment; one that provides a curriculum 
that helps them both academically and vocationally.

 

Chairman of the Best Care Foundation, Orville Johnson, said that although the foundation is a school supervised by 

the Ministry of Education, it is not a grant-aided school and so prior to COVID-19 the school was actively engaged in 
organizing its own funding. However, the impact of COVID-19 was severe, and dramatically impacted the school’s ability 
to raise its own funds, so the infusion of funds from Key Insurance came at the right time.  While the school extended 
their heartfelt gratitude to us, we are also grateful to be given the opportunity to support the advancement of children in 
our communities.

 

As we continue to excel as The People’s Insurer, people will always remain the central focus of our business. We remain 
committed to positively contributing to the lives of Jamaicans and welcome opportunities that can help us play our role 
in shaping a future we can all be proud of.  

 *Names changed to protect clients’ identities.
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7  7 

EXPRESSION OF OPINION
I have examined the financial condition and valued the policy and claims liabilities of Key for its balance 
sheet as at December 31, 2021 and the corresponding change in the policy and claims liabilities in the 
statement of operations for the year then ended.  I meet the appropriate qualification standards and am 
familiar with the valuation and solvency requirements applicable to general insurance companies in 
Jamaica.  I have relied upon PWC for the substantial accuracy of the records and information concerning 
other liabilities, as certified in the attached statement. 

The results of my valuation together with amounts carried in the Annual Return are the following: 

Claims Liabilities (J$000) Carried in Annual Actuary�s 

Return Estimate

Direct unpaid claims and adjustment expenses: 1,484,391 1,474,364

Assumed unpaid claims and adjustment expenses: 0 0

Gross unpaid claims and adjustment expenses: 1,484,391 1,474,364

Ceded unpaid claims and adjustment expenses: 837,632 816,052

Other amounts to recover: 0 0

Other net liabilities: 0 0

Net unpaid claims and adjustment expenses: 646,759 658,312

Policy Liabilities (J$000) Carried in Annual Actuary�s 

Return Estimate

Gross policy liabilities in connection with unearned premiums: 564,319

Net policy liabilities in connection with unearned premiums: 545,320

Gross unearned premiums: 823,686

Net unearned premiums: 603,326

Premium deficiency: -25,913

Other net liabilities: 0
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8  8 

In my opinion: 

(i) The methods and procedures used in the verification of the data are sufficient and reliable and

fulfill acceptable standards of care;

(ii) The valuation of policy and claims liabilities has been made in accordance with generally

accepted actuarial practice with such changes as determined and directions made by the

Commission;

(iii) The methods and assumptions used to calculate the policy and claims liabilities are

appropriate to the circumstances of the company and of the said policies and claims;

(iv) The amount of policy and claims liabilities represented in the balance sheet of Key Insurance

Company Limited makes proper provision for the future payments under the company�s

policies and meet the requirements of the Insurance Act and other appropriate regulations of

Jamaica;

(v) A proper charge on account of these liabilities has been made in the statement of

comprehensive income;

(vi) The capital position is questionable to meet the solvency standards as established by the

Commission

Josh Worsham, FCAS, MAAA 

____________________________ __________________________  March 1, 2022 

Name of Appointed Actuary Signature of Appointed Actuary  Date 
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PricewaterhouseCoopers, Scotiabank Centre, Duke Street, Box 372, Kingston, Jamaica 
T: (876) 922 6230, F: 876) 922 7581, www.pwc.com/jm

L.A. McKnight B.L. Scott B.J. Denning G.A. Reece P.A. Williams R.S. Nathan C.I. Bell-Wisdom G.K. Moore T.N. Smith DaSilva K.D. Powell.

Independent auditor’s report 
To the Members of Key Insurance Company Limited 

Report on the audit of the financial statements 

Our opinion 
In our opinion, the financial statements give a true and fair view of the financial position of Key Insurance 
Company Limited (the Company) as at 31 December 2021, and of its financial performance and its cash 
flows for the year then ended in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) and 
with the requirements of the Jamaican Companies Act. 

What we have audited 

The Company’s financial statements comprise: 

• the statement of financial position as at 31 December 2021;

• the statement of comprehensive income for the year then ended;

• the statement of changes in equity for the year then ended;

• the statement of cash flows for the year then ended; and

• the notes to the financial statements, which include significant accounting policies and other
explanatory information.

Basis for opinion 
We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (ISAs). Our 
responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of 

the financial statements section of our report.  

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for 
our opinion.  

Independence 

We are independent of the Company in accordance with the International Code of Ethics for Professional 
Accountants (including International Independence standards) issued by the International Ethics 
Standards Board for Accountants (IESBA Code). We have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in 
accordance with the IESBA Code. 
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Our audit approach 

Audit scope 
As part of designing our audit, we determined materiality and assessed the risks of material misstatement 
in the financial statements. In particular, we considered where management made subjective judgements; 
for example, in respect of significant accounting estimates that involved making assumptions and 
considering future events that are inherently uncertain. As in all of our audits, we also addressed the risk 
of management override of internal controls, including, among other matters, consideration of whether 
there was evidence of bias that represented a risk of material misstatement due to fraud. 

We tailored the scope of our audit in order to perform sufficient work to enable us to provide an opinion on 
the financial statements as a whole, taking into account the structure of the Company, the accounting 
processes and controls, and the industry in which the Company operates. 

Key audit matters  

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgment, were of most significance in our 
audit of the financial statements of the current period. These matters were addressed in the context of our 
audit of the financial statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a 
separate opinion on these matters.  

Key audit matter How our audit addressed the key audit matter 

Valuation of incurred but not reported 

claims for property & casualty contracts 

Refer to notes 2(n), 3(b) and 24 to the financial 

statements for management’s disclosures of related 

accounting policies, judgements and estimates. 

As at 31 December 2021, total incurred but not 
reported reserves amounted to $519 million. 

The methodologies and assumptions utilized to 
develop incurred but not reported reserves 
involve a significant degree of judgement.  
There is generally less information available in 
relation to these claims, which can result in 
variability between initial estimates and final 
settlement.  

Management engaged an independent 
actuarial expert to assist in determining the 
value of claims incurred but not reported. 

The approach to addressing the matter, with the 
assistance of our actuarial specialists, involved the 
following procedures, amongst others:  

Tested the completeness, accuracy and reliability of 
the underlying data utilized by management, and its 
external actuarial experts, to support the actuarial 
valuation. 

Assessed the independence, experience and 
objectivity of management’s actuarial expert. 

Performed a methods and assumptions analysis of 
the actuarial valuation prepared by management’s 
actuarial expert. 

Considered the suitability of the methodology used by 
management’s actuary in establishing claims liabilities 
against established actuarial practice and our 
knowledge and experience.  

46Annual Report 2021



Key audit matter How our audit addressed the key audit matter 
We focused on this area because, underlying 
these methods are a number of assumptions 
and judgements relating to the expected 
settlement amount and settlement patterns of 
claims which are subject to complex 
calculations.  

The results of our procedures indicated that the 
assumptions used by management for determining 
the value incurred but not reported claims for property 
and casualty contracts were not unreasonable and the 
methodologies applied were appropriate in the 
circumstances. 

Other information 
Management is responsible for the other information. The other information comprises the Annual Report 
(but does not include the financial statements and our auditor’s report thereon), which is expected to be 
made available to us after the date of this auditor’s report.  

Our opinion on the financial statements does not cover the other information and we will not express any 
form of assurance conclusion thereon.  

In connection with our audit of the financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other information 
identified above when it becomes available and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is 
materially inconsistent with the financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit, or otherwise 
appears to be materially misstated.  

When we read the Annual Report, if we conclude that there is a material misstatement therein, we are 
required to communicate the matter to those charged with governance. 

Responsibilities of management and those charged with governance for the financial 
statements 
Management is responsible for the preparation of the financial statements that give a true and fair view in 
accordance with IFRS and with the requirements of the Jamaican Companies Act, and for such internal 
control as management determines is necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements that are 
free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.  

In preparing the financial statements, management is responsible for assessing the Company’s ability to 
continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the 
going concern basis of accounting unless management either intends to liquidate the Company or to 
cease operations, or has no realistic alternative but to do so. 
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Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the Company’s financial reporting 

process. 

Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements 

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are 

free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that 

includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an 

audit conducted in accordance with ISAs will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. 

Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the 

aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the 

basis of these financial statements.  

As part of an audit in accordance with ISAs, we exercise professional judgment and maintain professional 

scepticism throughout the audit. We also: 

• Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to

fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit

evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a

material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may

involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

• Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures

that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the

effectiveness of the Company’s internal control.

• Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting

estimates and related disclosures made by management.

• Conclude on the appropriateness of management’s use of the going concern basis of accounting and,

based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or

conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Company’s ability to continue as a going concern. If

we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s report

to the related disclosures in the financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify

our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s

report. However, future events or conditions may cause the Company to cease to continue as a going

concern.

• Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial statements, including the

disclosures, and whether the financial statements represent the underlying transactions and events in

a manner that achieves fair presentation.

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the planned scope 

and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal 

control that we identify during our audit. 
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We also provide those charged with governance with a statement that we have complied with relevant 

ethical requirements regarding independence, and to communicate with them all relationships and other 

matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where applicable, actions 

taken to eliminate threats or safeguards applied.  

From the matters communicated with those charged with governance, we determine those matters that 

were of most significance in the audit of the financial statements of the current period and are therefore 

the key audit matters. We describe these matters in our auditor’s report unless law or regulation precludes 

public disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter 

should not be communicated in our report because the adverse consequences of doing so would 

reasonably be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such communication.  

Report on other legal and regulatory requirements 
As required by the Jamaican Companies Act, we have obtained all the information and explanations 

which, to the best of our knowledge and belief, were necessary for the purposes of our audit. 

In our opinion, proper accounting records have been kept, so far as appears from our examination of those 

records, and the accompanying financial statements are in agreement therewith and give the information 

required by the Jamaican Companies Act, in the manner so required. 

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this independent auditor’s report is Gail Moore. 

Chartered Accountants 

1 March 2022 

Kingston, Jamaica 
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Page 1

Key Insurance Company Limited 
Statement of Comprehensive Income  
Year ended 31 December 2021 
(expressed in Jamaican dollars unless otherwise indicated) 

Note 2021 2020 

$’000 $’000 

Gross Premiums Written 1,914,966 1,432,083 
Reinsurance ceded  (599,099) (489,715) 
Net premiums written 1,315,867 942,368 
Change in unearned premiums, net (164,873) (108,184) 
Net Premiums Earned 1,150,994 834,184 
Commission income 96,606 159,925 
Commission expense (160,395) (171,328) 
Claims expense (589,773) (563,187) 
Change in unexpired risk reserve 84,587 31,709 
Administration and other expenses 8 (502,886) (489,400) 
Amortisation of underwriting assets 32 - (323,136)
Underwriting Gain/(Loss) 79,133 (521,233) 
Investment income 10 59,744 27,494 
Gains on revaluation of investment properties 19 - 26,584
Other income 11 98,761 17,656
Profit/(Loss) Before Taxation 237,638 (449,499) 
Taxation 12 (77,249) 149,833 
Net Profit/(Loss) 160,389 (299,666) 
Other Comprehensive Income: 

Item that may be subsequently reclassified to profit or loss: 

Net loss on the re-measurements of financial assets at FVOCI, net 
of taxes (12,666) (23,393) 

Item that will not be subsequently reclassified to profit or loss: 
Revaluation gains on property, plant and equipment, net of taxes - 12,836
Other Comprehensive Income (12,666) (10,557) 
Total Comprehensive Income for the Year 147,723 (310,223) 
Earnings per Stock Unit 28 $0.30     ($0.81) 
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Page 2

Key Insurance Company Limited 
Statement of Financial Position 
31 December 2021 
(expressed in Jamaican dollars unless otherwise indicated) 

Note 
2021 

$’000 
2020 

$’000 

ASSETS 

Cash and cash equivalents 13 1,474,237 745,183 

Investment securities 14 780,049 395,674 

Due from policyholders, brokers and agents 15 258,833 190,930 

Due from reinsurers 16 1,059,554 363,946 

Deferred policy acquisition costs 82,957 62,622 

Taxation recoverable 202,549 220,770 

Other receivables 17 1,394 29,856 

Right-of-use asset 31 10,124 6,575 

Investment properties 19 - 226,734

Intangible assets 20 3,016 2,910 

Property, plant and equipment 21 227,529 231,934 

Deferred taxation 23 380,047 428,158 

4,480,289 2,905,292 

LIABILITIES AND EQUITY 

Liabilities 

Other payables 22 213,205 136,279 

Lease liability 31 10,982 8,648 

Due to reinsurers 800,420 151,937 

Insurance reserves 24 2,380,964 2,349,451 

3,405,571 2,646,315 

Equity 

Share capital 25 903,300 235,282 

Capital reserve 26 57,371 57,371 

Fair value reserves 27 62,105 479,936 

Retained earnings/(Accumulated deficit)  51,942 (513,612) 

1,074,718 258,977 

4,480,289 2,905,292 

Approved for issue on behalf of the Board of Directors on 1 March 2022 and signed on its behalf by: 

 Don Wehby Chairman Linval Freeman Director 
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Key Insurance Company Limited 
Statement of Changes in Equity 
Year ended 31 December 2021 
(expressed in Jamaican dollars unless otherwise indicated) 

Share 

Capital 

Capital 

Reserve 

Fair 

Value 

Reserves 

(Accumulated 

Deficit)/ 

Retained 

Earnings        Total 

$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000         $’000 

Balance at 1 January 2020 235,282 57,371 459,469 (91,782) 660,340 
Change in accounting policy - - 4,440 (95,580) (91,140) 
Restated total equity at the beginning of 

the financial year 235,282 57,371 463,909 (187,362) 569,200 
Loss for the year - - - (299,666) (299,666) 
Other comprehensive income - - (10,557) - (10,557)
Transfer between reserves: 
Gains on revaluation of investment 

properties, transferred from 
accumulated deficit (Note 27) - - 26,584 (26,584) - 

Balance at 31 December 2020 235,282 57,371 479,936 (513,612) 258,977 
Issue of stock units (Note 25) 668,018 - - - 668,018 
Profit for the year - - - 160,389 160,389 
Other comprehensive income - - (12,666) - (12,666)
Transfer between reserves: 
Realised gains on disposal of investment  

properties, transferred to 
accumulated deficit (Note 27) - - (405,165) 405,165 - 

Balance at 31 December 2021 903,300 57,371 62,105 51,942 1,074,718 
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Key Insurance Company Limited 
Statement of Cash Flows  
Year ended 31 December 2021 
(expressed in Jamaican dollars unless otherwise indicated) 

Note 
2021 

$’000 
2020 

$’000 
Cash Flows from Operating Activities 

Net profit/(loss) 160,389 (299,666) 
Adjustments for: 

Amortisation and depreciation 8 22,857 23,778 
Expected credit losses 8 10,472 5,591 
Gain on sale of property, plant and equipment (773) (7,668)
Write-off of property, plant and equipment 21 342 - 

    Gains on revaluation of investment properties 19 - (26,584)
Net foreign exchange gains (18,030) (4,181) 
Dividend income 10 (167) (997)
Interest expense 31 1,204 992

         Interest income 10 (59,577) (26,497) 
Taxation 12 77,249 (149,833) 

193,966 (485,065) 
Changes in operating assets and liabilities 

Due from policyholders, brokers and agents (67,903) (26,701) 
Deferred policy acquisition costs (20,335) 76,081 
Insurance reserves 31,513 188,488 
Due from reinsurers (695,608) 1,673,106 
Due to reinsurers 648,483 (1,452,824) 
Other assets 28,462 20,619 
Other liabilities 76,926 71,318 

Cash generated from operations 195,504 65,022 
Interest paid (1,204) (992) 
Taxation paid (10,925) (1,653) 
Net cash provided by operating activities 183,375 62,377 

Cash Flows from Investing Activities 
Acquisition of property, plant and equipment 21 (8,201) (10,852) 
Acquisition of intangible asset 20 (1,696) (672) 
Proceeds on disposal of property, plant and equipment 773 9,789 
Proceeds on disposal of investment properties 249,554 - 
Purchase of investments (597,898) (264,245) 
Disposal/maturity of investments 191,965 - 
Interest and dividend received 52,239 27,461 
Net cash used in investing activities (113,264) (238,519) 

Cash Flows from Financing Activities 
        Proceeds from rights issue of ordinary stock units 25 668,018 - 
        Lease principal payments  31 (12,346) (11,294) 

  Net cash provided by/(used in) financing activities 655,672 (11,294) 
Net increase/(decrease) in cash and cash equivalents (Page 5) 725,783 (187,436) 
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Key Insurance Company Limited 
Statement of Cash Flows (Continued) 
Year ended 31 December 2021 
(expressed in Jamaican dollars unless otherwise indicated) 

Note 
2021 

$’000 
2020 

$’000 

Net increase/(decrease) in cash and cash equivalents (Page 4) 725,783 (187,436) 
Effect of changes in exchange rate on cash and cash equivalents 3,271 (1,410) 
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year 745,183 934,029 
Cash and Cash Equivalents at the End of the Year 13 1,474,237 745,183 
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Key Insurance Company Limited 
Notes to the Financial Statements 
31 December 2021 
(expressed in Jamaican dollars unless otherwise indicated) 

1. Identification and Activities

(a) Key Insurance Company Limited (the company) is registered and domiciled in Jamaica. Its registered office
and place of business is located at 6c Halfway Tree Road, Kingston 5, Jamaica.

(b) The company is licensed to operate as a general insurer in Jamaica, under the Insurance Act, 2001. Its
principal activity is the underwriting of motor, commercial and personal property and casualty insurance.

(c) The acquisition of 65% of the issued stock units of Key Insurance Company Limited by Grace Kennedy
Financial Group Limited (GKFG) was completed on 29 March 2020. The ultimate parent company is
GraceKennedy Limited. Both the parent, Grace Kennedy Financial Group Limited, and the ultimate parent are
incorporated and domiciled in Jamaica. In January 2021, the company raised $668,000,000 by way of a
rights issue whereby an additional 190,862,238 ordinary stock units were issued to new and existing
stockholders. GKFG exercised its rights and increased its shareholding to 72%.

(d) The company graduated from the Junior Market of the Jamaica Stock Exchange (JSE) to the Main Market.
The graduation took effect on 9 April 2020.

The financial statements were authorised for issue by the Directors of the company on 1 March 2022.  The 
Directors have the power to amend and reissue the financial statements. 

2. Significant Accounting Policies

The principal accounting policies applied in the preparation of these financial statements are set out below.
These policies have been consistently applied to all the years presented, unless otherwise stated.

(a) Basis of preparation
These financial statements have been prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting
Standards (IFRS) as issued by the International Accounting Standards Board (IASB) and IFRS
Interpretations Committee (IFRS IC) interpretations applicable to companies reporting under IFRS, and
have been prepared under the historical cost convention except for certain investment securities,
investment properties and certain items of property, plant and equipment measured at fair value.  The
financial statements comply with International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) as issued by the
International Accounting Standards Board (IASB).

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with IFRS requires the use of certain critical
accounting estimates. It also requires management to exercise its judgement in the process of applying the
company’s accounting policies. Although these estimates are based on management’s best knowledge of
current events and actions, actual results could differ from those estimates. The areas involving a higher
degree of judgement or complexity, or areas where assumptions and estimates are significant to the
financial statements are disclosed in Note 3.
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Key Insurance Company Limited 
Notes to the Financial Statements 
31 December 2021 
(expressed in Jamaican dollars unless otherwise indicated) 

2. Significant Accounting Policies (Continued)

(a) Basis of preparation (continued)

Accounting pronouncements effective in 2021 which are relevant to the company’s operations
Certain new standards, amendments and interpretations to existing standards have been published that
became effective during the current and prior financial years. Management has reviewed these new
standards, amendments and interpretations to existing standards and has determined that there were no
new or amended accountings standards that required the company to change its accounting policies or add
new disclosures for the 2021 financial year.

Accounting pronouncements that are not yet effective, and have not been early adopted
At the date of authorisation of these financial statements, certain new standards, interpretations and
amendments to existing standards have been issued which are mandatory for the company’s accounting
periods beginning on or after 1 January 2022 or later periods but were not effective at the date of the
statement of financial position, and which the company has not early adopted. The company has assessed
the relevance of all such new standards, interpretations and amendments, has determined that the
following may be relevant to its operations, and has concluded as follows:

IFRS 17, ‘Insurance contracts’ (effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2023). This
standard was issued as replacement for IFRS 4 ‘Insurance contracts’ and requires a current measurement
model where estimates are re-measured each reporting period.  The standard allows a choice between
recognising changes in discount rates either in the income statement or directly in other comprehensive
income. An optional, simplified premium allocation approach is permitted for the liability for the remaining
coverage for short duration contracts.  The company is in the process of implementing the new standard for
its insurance contracts, which are likely to qualify for the simplified measurement model (the premium
allocation approach) which is a modified approach to the general measurement model.

Amendment to IAS 16, ‘Property, plant and equipment’ (effective for annual periods beginning on or
after 1 January 2022). This amendment prohibits an entity from deducting from the cost of an item of PP&E
any proceeds received from selling items produced while the entity is preparing the asset for its intended
use. Instead, the entity will recognise such sales proceeds and related cost in profit or loss. It also clarifies
that an entity is ‘testing whether the asset is functioning properly’ when it assesses the technical and
physical performance of the asset. The financial performance of the asset is not relevant to this
assessment. Entities must disclose separately the amounts of proceeds and costs relating to items
produced that are not an output of the entity’s ordinary activities. The company is currently assessing the
impact of this amendment.

Amendments to IAS 37, ‘Provisions, contingent liabilities and contingent assets’ (effective for annual
periods beginning on or after 1 January 2022). This amendment specifies which costs a company includes
when assessing whether a contract will be loss making. It clarifies that the direct costs of fulfilling a contract
include both the incremental costs of fulfilling the contract and an allocation of other costs directly related to
fulfilling contracts. Before recognising a separate provision for an onerous contract, the entity recognises
any impairment loss that has occurred on assets used in fulfilling the contract. The company is currently
assessing the impact of these amendments.
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Key Insurance Company Limited 
Notes to the Financial Statements 
31 December 2021 
(expressed in Jamaican dollars unless otherwise indicated) 

2. Significant Accounting Policies (Continued)

(a) Basis of preparation (continued)

Accounting pronouncements that are not yet effective, and have not been early adopted
(continued)

Amendment to IFRS 16, ‘Leases’ – COVID-19 related rent concessions Extension of the practical
expedient (effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 April 2021). As a result of the coronavirus
(COVID-19) pandemic, rent concessions have been granted to lessees. In May 2020, the IASB published
an amendment to IFRS 16 that provided an optional practical expedient for lessees from assessing
whether a rent concession related to COVID-19 is a lease modification. On 31 March 2021, the IASB
published an additional amendment to extend the date of the practical expedient from 30 June 2021 to 30
June 2022. Lessees can select to account for such rent concessions in the same way as they would if they
were not lease modifications. In many cases, this will result in accounting for the concession as variable
lease payments in the period(s) in which the event or condition that triggers the reduced payment occurs.
The company is currently assessing the impact of this amendment.

Amendment to IAS 12 – deferred tax related to assets and liabilities arising from a single
transaction (effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2023). These amendments
require companies to recognise deferred tax on transactions that, on initial recognition give rise to equal
amounts of taxable and deductible temporary differences. The company is currently assessing the impact
of these amendments.

Amendments to IAS 1, Practice statement 2 and IAS 8 (effective for annual periods beginning on or
after 1 January 2023). The amendments aim to improve accounting policy disclosures and to help users of
the financial statements to distinguish between changes in accounting estimates and changes in
accounting policies. The company is currently assessing the impact of these amendments.

Amendments to IAS 1, ‘Presentation of financial statements’ (effective for accounting periods starting
not earlier than 1 January 2024). These amendments clarify that liabilities are classified as either current or
non-current, depending on the rights that exist at the end of the reporting period. Classification is
unaffected by the expectations of the entity or events after the reporting date. The amendment also clarifies
what IAS 1 means when it refers to the ‘settlement’ of a liability. Note that the IASB has issued a new
exposure draft proposing changes to this amendment. The company is currently assessing the impact of
these amendments.

The company has concluded that all other standards, interpretations and amendments to existing
standards, which are published but not yet effective are either relevant to its operations but will have no
material impact on adoption; or are not relevant to its operations and will therefore have no impact on
adoption; or contain inconsequential clarifications that will have no material impact when they come into
effect. This includes amendments resulting from the IASB’s ongoing ‘Improvements to IFRS’ project.
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Key Insurance Company Limited 
Notes to the Financial Statements 
31 December 2021 
(expressed in Jamaican dollars unless otherwise indicated) 

2. Significant Accounting Policies (Continued)

(b) Foreign currency translation
Functional and presentation currency
Items included in the financial statements of the company are measured using the currency of the primary
economic environment in which the company operates. The financial statements are presented in Jamaican
dollars, which is also the company’s functional currency.

Translations and balances
Foreign currency balances outstanding at the statement of financial position date are translated at the rates of
exchange ruling on that date. Transactions in foreign currencies during the year are converted at the rates of
exchange ruling on the dates of those transactions. Gains and losses arising from the settlement of such
transactions and from the translation at year end exchange rates of monetary assets and liabilities
denominated in foreign currencies are recognised in profit or loss in the statement of comprehensive income.

(c) Financial instruments
A financial instrument is any contract that gives rise to both a financial asset in one entity and a financial
liability or equity in another entity.

Financial assets
The company’s financial assets comprise investment securities, insurance receivables and cash and short-
term investments.

Classification
The company classifies its financial assets in the following measurement categories:

• those to be measured subsequently at fair value (either through other comprehensive income (OCI), or
through profit or loss); and

• those to be measured at amortised cost.

The classification depends on the business model used for managing the financial assets and the 
contractual terms of the cash flows. The company reclassifies debt investments only when its business 
model for managing those assets changes.  

For assets measured at fair value, gains and losses will either be recorded in profit or loss or OCI. For 
investments in equity instruments that are not held for trading, this will depend on whether the company 
has made an irrevocable election at the time of initial recognition to account for the equity investment at fair 
value through other comprehensive income (FVOCI).  Equity instruments held for trading are measured at 
fair value through profit or loss (FVPL). 

. 

58Annual Report 2021



Page 10

Key Insurance Company Limited 
Notes to the Financial Statements 
31 December 2021 
(expressed in Jamaican dollars unless otherwise indicated) 

2. Significant Accounting Policies (Continued)

(c) Financial instruments (continued)

Financial assets (continued)
Measurement

Debt instruments
Measurement of debt instruments depends on the company’s business model for managing the asset and
the cash flow characteristics of the asset. The company classifies its debt instruments into three
measurement categories:

• Amortised cost: Assets that are held for collection of contractual cash flows, where those cash flows
represent solely payments of principal and interest, are measured at amortised cost.  Interest income
from these financial assets is included in the profit or loss using the effective interest rate method.  Any
gain or loss arising on derecognition is recognised directly in profit or loss. Impairment losses are
included in administration and other expenses in profit or loss.

• FVOCI: Assets that are held for collection of contractual cash flows and for selling the financial assets,
where the assets’ cash flows represent solely payments of principal and interest, are measured at
FVOCI.  Changes in fair value are taken through OCI.   The recognition of interest income and
impairment gains or losses are recognised in profit or loss. When the financial asset is derecognised,
the cumulative gain or loss previously recognised in OCI is reclassified to profit or loss.  Interest income
from these financial assets is included in the profit or loss using the effective interest rate method.
Impairment losses are included in administration and other expenses in profit or loss.

• FVPL: Assets that do not meet the criteria for amortised cost or FVOCI are measured at FVPL. A gain
or loss on a debt investment that is measured at FVPL is recognised in profit or loss in the period in
which it arises.

Equity instruments 

The company measures all equity investments at fair value.  Where the company’s management has 
elected to present fair value gains and losses on equity investments in OCI, there is no subsequent 
reclassification of fair value gains and losses to profit or loss following the de-recognition of the investment.  

Dividends from such investments continue to be recognised in profit or loss when the company’s right to 
receive payments is established.  Changes in the fair value of financial assets at FVPL are recognised in 
the profit or loss. 

Impairment  

The company assesses, on a forward-looking basis, the expected credit losses (ECL) associated with its 
financial assets classified at amortised cost and debt instruments measured at FVOCI. 

Application of the General Model 
The company has applied the ‘general model’ as required under IFRS 9 for financial assets other than 
receivables from agents, brokers and policyholders.  Under this model, the company is required to assess 
on a forward-looking basis the ECL associated with its debt investments carried at amortised cost and 
FVOCI.  The ECL is recognised in profit or loss before a loss event has occurred.  The measurement of 
ECL reflects an unbiased and probability-weighted amount that is determined by evaluating a range of 
possible outcomes and considers the time value of money in relation to these outcomes.   
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Key Insurance Company Limited 
Notes to the Financial Statements 
31 December 2021 
(expressed in Jamaican dollars unless otherwise indicated) 

2. Significant Accounting Policies (Continued)

(c) Financial instruments (continued)

Financial assets (continued)
Impairment (continued)

Application of the General Model (continued)
The probability-weighted outcome considers multiple scenarios based on reasonable and supportable
information that is available without undue cost or effort at the reporting date about past events, current
conditions and forecasts of future economic conditions.

ECL is calculated by multiplying the Probability of Default (PD), Loss Given Default (LGD) and Exposure at
Default (EAD).

The impairment model uses a three-stage approach based on the extent of credit deterioration since
origination:

• Stage 1 – 12-month ECL applies to all financial assets that have not experienced a significant
increase in credit risk since origination and are not credit impaired. The ECL is computed using a 12-
month PD that represents the probability of default occurring over the next 12 months.

• Stage 2 – When a financial asset experiences a significant increase in credit risk subsequent to
origination but is not credit impaired, it is considered to be in Stage 2. This requires the computation of
ECL based on lifetime PD that represents the probability of default occurring over the remaining
estimated life of the financial asset.

• Stage 3 – Financial assets that have an objective evidence of impairment will be included in this
stage.  Similar to Stage 2, the allowance for credit losses will continue to capture the lifetime ECL.

Macro-economic Factors and Forward-Looking Information 
The company applies an unbiased and probability-weighted estimate of credit losses by evaluating a range 
of possible outcomes that incorporates forecasts of future economic conditions. 

Macro-economic factors and forward-looking information are considered in measurement of ECL as well as 
the determination of whether there has been a significant increase in credit risk since origination. 
Measurement of ECL at each reporting period reflects reasonable and supportable information at the 
reporting date about past events, current conditions and forecasts of future economic conditions. 

The company uses three scenarios that are probability-weighted to determine ECL. 

Expected Life 
When measuring ECL, the company considers the maximum contractual period over which the company is 
exposed to credit risk. All contractual terms are considered when determining the expected life, including 
prepayment options.  

Application of the Simplified Approach 
For receivables from agents, brokers and policy holders and intercompany receivables, the company 
applies the simplified approach permitted by IFRS 9, which requires that the impairment provision is 
measured at initial recognition and throughout the life of the receivables using a lifetime ECL.  As a 
practical expedient, a provision matrix is utilised in determining the lifetime ECL for these receivables.  
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Key Insurance Company Limited 
Notes to the Financial Statements 
31 December 2021 
(expressed in Jamaican dollars unless otherwise indicated) 

2. Significant Accounting Policies (Continued)

(c) Financial instruments (continued)

Financial assets (continued)
Impairment (continued)

The lifetime ECL is determined by taking into consideration historical rates of default for each segment of
aged receivables as well as the estimated impact of forward-looking information.

Premium receivable
Receivables are recognised when due, and are carried at cost, less provision for impairment, which is
deemed to approximate the fair value of these short-term assets. These include amounts due from agents,
brokers and insurance contract holders.

Expected credit losses are calculated on receivables from agents, brokers and policyholders and
intercompany receivables on a periodic basis and the carrying amount reduced accordingly with the
impairment loss recognised in profit or loss.

Cash and cash equivalents
For the purpose of presentation in the statement of cash flows, cash and cash equivalents includes cash at
bank and in hand, deposits held at call with banks, other short-term highly liquid investments with original
maturities of three months or less that are readily convertible to a known amount of cash and which are
subject to an insignificant risk of changes in value, and bank overdrafts.

Financial liabilities
The company’s financial liabilities are initially measured at fair value, net of transaction costs and are
subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method.  At the statement of financial
position date, the following items were classified as financial liabilities: payables, bank overdraft, short term
loans and amounts due to reinsurers, and claims outstanding.

The fair value of the company’s financial instruments is discussed in Note 6.

(d) Securities purchased under agreements to resell
Securities purchased under agreement to resell (reverse repurchase agreements) are treated as loan
assets and they mature within twelve months.  The difference between the purchase and resale price is
treated as interest and accrued over the life of the arrangements using the effective yield method.

(e) Reinsurance ceded

The company cedes insurance premiums and risk in the normal course of business in order to limit the
potential for losses arising from longer exposures. Reinsurance does not relieve the originating insurer of its
liability. Reinsurance assets include the balances due from both insurance and reinsurance companies for
paid and unpaid losses, loss adjustment expenses and ceded unearned premiums. Amounts recoverable
from reinsurers are estimated in a manner consistent with the claim liability associated with the reinsured
policy. Reinsurance is recorded gross in the statement of financial position.
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Key Insurance Company Limited 
Notes to the Financial Statements 
31 December 2021 
(expressed in Jamaican dollars unless otherwise indicated) 

2. Significant Accounting Policies (Continued)

(f) Deferred policy acquisition costs
The cost of acquiring and renewing insurance contracts, including commissions, underwriting and policy
issue expenses, which vary with and are directly related to the contracts, are deferred over the unexpired
period of risk carried. Deferred policy acquisition costs are subsequently amortised as the premium is
earned over the life of the contract. Deferred policy acquisition costs are subject to recoverability testing at
the time of the policy issue and at the end of each accounting period.

(g) Investment properties
Investment properties comprise land owned by the company, which is held for long-term capital
appreciation and is not used in the provision of services.  Investment properties are treated as a long-term
investment and are carried at fair value, representing open market value determined annually by external
valuators.  Changes in fair values are recorded in profit or loss.

(h) Property, plant and equipment
All property, plant and equipment are initially recorded at cost. Freehold land and buildings are
subsequently shown at market valuation based on annual valuations by external independent valuers, less
subsequent depreciation of buildings. All other property, plant and equipment are carried at cost less
accumulated depreciation.

Subsequent costs are included in the asset’s carrying amount or are recognised as a separate asset, as
appropriate, only when it is probable that future economic benefits associated with the item will flow to the
company and the cost of the item can be measured reliably. All other repairs and maintenance are charged
to profit and loss during the financial period in which they are incurred.

Increases in carrying amounts arising on revaluation are credited to other comprehensive income and
shown in fair value reserves in stockholders’ equity.  Decreases that offset previous increases of the same
asset are charged in other comprehensive income and debited against fair value reserves directly in equity;
all other decreases are charged to profit or loss.

Depreciation is calculated on the straight-line basis by reference to costs, at rates estimated to write off the
relevant assets, net of estimated salvage value, over their estimated useful lives.

Annual depreciation rates are as follows:

Buildings 2½% 

Computer equipment  20% 

Motor vehicles  20% 

Furniture and fixtures 10% 

Land is not depreciated. 

Leasehold improvements are amortised over the period of the lease. 

Gains and losses on disposals are determined by comparing proceeds with carrying amount and are 
included in profit or loss. 
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Notes to the Financial Statements 
31 December 2021 
(expressed in Jamaican dollars unless otherwise indicated) 

2. Significant Accounting Policies (Continued)

(i) Intangible assets
Acquired computer software licenses are capitalised on the basis of the costs incurred to acquire and bring
to use the specific software.  These costs are amortised over their useful lives of five years.

Costs associated with maintaining computer software programs are recognised as an expense as incurred.
Costs that are directly associated with acquiring identifiable and unique software products which are
expected to generate economic benefits exceeding costs beyond one year, are recognised as intangible
assets.

(j) Impairment of long-lived assets
Property, plant and equipment and other long-lived assets are reviewed for impairment losses whenever
events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount may not be recoverable. An
impairment loss is recognised for the amount by which the carrying amount of the asset exceeds its
recoverable amount, which is the higher of an asset’s net selling price and value in use.

(k) Leases
As a lessee

Leases are recognised as right-of-use assets and corresponding liabilities at the date at which the leased
assets are available for use by the company.

The right-of-use assets are presented in a separate line on the statement of financial position.

At the commencement date, lease liabilities are measured at an amount equal to the present value of the
following lease payments for the underlying right-of-use assets during the lease term:

• fixed payments (including in-substance fixed payments), less any lease incentives receivable;
• variable lease payments that are based on an index or a rate;
• amounts expected to be payable by the company under residual value guarantees;
• the exercise price of a purchase option if the company is reasonably certain to exercise that option; and
• payments of penalties for terminating the lease, if the lease term reflects the company exercising that

option.

The lease payments are discounted using the company’s incremental borrowing rate. The incremental 
borrowing rate at 31 December 2020 and 31 December 2021 was 7.5%. 

Each lease payment is allocated between the liability and finance cost. Lease liabilities are subsequently 
measured using the effective interest method. The carrying amount of liability is remeasured to reflect any 
reassessment, lease modification or revised in-substance fixed payments.  

The lease term is a non-cancellable period of a lease; periods covered by options to extend and terminate 
the lease are only included in the lease term if it is reasonably certain that the lease will be extended or not 
terminated.  

Right-of-use assets are measured initially at cost comprising the following: 
• the amount of the initial measurement of the lease liability;
• any lease payments made at or before the commencement date less any lease incentives received;
• any initial direct costs; and
• restoration costs.
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2. Significant Accounting Policies (Continued)

(k) Leases (continued)
As a lessee (continued)
Subsequently, the right-of-use assets are measured at cost less accumulated depreciation and any
accumulated impairment losses and adjusted for remeasurement of the lease liability due to reassessment
or lease modifications.

The right-of-use assets are depreciated over the shorter of the asset’s useful life and the lease term on a
straight-line basis. The amortisation period for the right-of-use assets is over the lease term of the property.

Payments associated with all short-term leases and certain leases of all low-value assets are recognised
on a straight-line basis as an expense in profit or loss. The company applies the exemption for low-value
assets on a lease-by-lease basis i.e. for the leases where the asset is sub-leased, a right-of-use asset is
recognised with corresponding lease liability; for all other leases of low value asset, the lease payments
associated with those leases will be recognised as an expense on a straight-line basis over the lease term.

Short-term leases are leases with a lease term of 12 months or less.

(l) Provisions
Provisions are recognised when the company has a present legal or constructive obligation as a result of
past events, if it is probable that an outflow of resources will be required to settle the obligation, and a
reliable estimate of the amount can be made. Where the company expects a provision to be reimbursed,
for example under an insurance contract, the reimbursement is recognised as a separate asset but only
when reimbursement is virtually certain.

(m) Payables
These amounts represent liabilities for goods and services provided by the company prior to the end of the
financial year which are unpaid.  They are recognised initially at their fair value and subsequently
measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method.

(n) Insurance reserves

Under the Insurance Regulations, 2001, the company is required to actuarially value its insurance reserves
annually. Consequently, the unexpired risk provision, claims incurred but not reported and the provision for
adverse deviation have all been independently actuarially determined. The actuary also reviews
management’s estimate of the claims outstanding and the unearned premium reserve.
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2. Significant Accounting Policies (Continued)

(n) Insurance reserves (continued)
Unearned premium reserve
This reserve represents that proportion of premiums written in respect of risks to be borne subsequent to
the year end, under contracts entered into on or before the statement of financial position date and is
amortised to income on a straight-line basis over the life of the insurance contract by applying 365th

method to gross written premiums. The reserve aims to match the expiry of exposure with the earning of
premium. The earned portion of premiums received, and receivable is recognised as revenue.

Unearned commission

The unearned commission represents the actual commission income on premium ceded on proportional
reinsurance contracts relating to the unexpired period of risk carried. The income is deferred as unearned
commission reserves, and amortised over the life of the period in which the commissions are expected to be
earned. These reserves are calculated by applying the 365th method to gross commissions.

Unexpired risk reserve
A provision is made to cover the estimated value of claims, whether reported or unreported, attributable to
the unexpired periods of policies in force at the statement of financial position date, in excess of the related
unearned premium reserve.

Claims outstanding
A provision is made to cover the estimated cost of settling claims arising out of events, which occurred by
the year end less amounts already paid in respect of those claims. The provision is estimated by
management on the basis of claims admitted and intimated.

Claims incurred but not reported (IBNR)
The reserve for IBNR claims has been calculated by an independent actuary using the Loss Development
Method and Bornhuetter-Ferguson Projection Method.

The Loss Development Method is where the current reported incurred and paid claims are projected to
their ultimate values by accident year based on historical incurred and paid development patterns.

The Bornhuetter-Ferguson Projection Method gives some weight to historically based development
patterns and the balancing weight to historically based expected ultimate loss ratios.

Liability adequacy test
At the end of each reporting period, liability adequacy tests are performed to ensure the adequacy of the
policy liabilities, net of related deferred policy acquisition costs.  In performing these tests, current best
estimates of future contractual cash flows are compared to the carrying amount of policy liabilities and any
deficiency is immediately charged to the profit or loss or statement of comprehensive income.
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2. Significant Accounting Policies (Continued)

(o) Income taxes
Taxation for the year comprises current and deferred tax. Tax is recognised in profit or loss in the statement
of comprehensive income, except to the extent that it relates to items recognised in other comprehensive
income or directly in equity. In those cases, the tax is also recognised in other comprehensive income or
directly in equity, respectively.

Current tax charges are based on the taxable profits for the year, which differs from the profit before tax
reported because it excludes items that are taxable or deductible in other years, and items that are never
taxable or deductible. The company’s liability for current tax is calculated at rates that have been enacted at
the statement of financial position date.

Deferred tax is the tax that is expected to be paid or recovered on differences between the carrying
amounts of assets and liabilities and the corresponding tax bases. Deferred income tax is provided in full,
using the liability method, on temporary differences arising between the tax bases of assets and liabilities
and their carrying amounts in the financial statements. Currently enacted tax rates are used in the
determination of deferred income tax.

Deferred tax assets are recognised to the extent that it is probable that future taxable profit will be available
against which the temporary differences can be utilised.

(p) Employee benefits
Pension obligations
The company participates in a defined contribution plan which is funded by payments from employees and
the company to a trustee-administered fund.

The defined contribution plan is a pension plan under which the company pays fixed contributions into a
separate fund. The company has no legal or constructive obligation to pay further contributions if the fund
does not hold sufficient assets to pay all employees the benefits relating to employee service in the current or
prior periods. The contributions paid by the company are charged to profit or loss in the period to which they
relate.

Vacation
Employee entitlement to annual leave is recognised when it accrues to employees. A provision is made for
the estimated liability for annual leave as a result of services rendered by employees up to the statement
of financial position date.

Termination benefits
Termination benefits are payable when employment is terminated by the company before the normal
retirement date, or whenever an employee accepts voluntary redundancy in exchange for these benefits.
The company recognises termination benefits when it is demonstrably committed to either terminating the
employment of current employees according to a detailed formal plan without possibility of withdrawal or
providing termination benefits as a result of an offer made to encourage voluntary redundancy. Benefits
falling due more than 12 months after the statement of financial position date are discounted to present
value.

66Annual Report 2021



Page 18

Key Insurance Company Limited 
Notes to the Financial Statements 
31 December 2021 
(expressed in Jamaican dollars unless otherwise indicated) 

2. Significant Accounting Policies (Continued)

(q) Revenue recognition
Revenue comprises the fair value of the consideration received or receivable for the provision of services in
the ordinary course of the company’s activities. Revenue is shown net of General Consumption Tax and is
recognised as follows:

Sale of insurance services

Gross premiums written represent amounts invoiced for insurance contracts that have been accepted by
the company during the year. They are recognised on a pro-rata basis over the life of the policies written.
The company uses reinsurance contracts to manage the risk associated with these insurance policies.
Reinsurance ceded represent amounts contracted to reinsurers during the year with respect to reinsurance
contracts entered into by the company. Reinsurance premiums ceded are deducted from gross premiums
written and are recognised on the same basis as gross written premium.

Commission receivable on reinsurance of risks is credited to revenue when premiums are earned.

Interest income

Interest income is recognised in profit or loss in the statement of comprehensive income for all interest-
bearing instruments, using the effective yield method.

(r) Taxation recoverable
Taxation recoverable represents tax withheld from interest earned on investments.

(s) Share capital
Ordinary stock units are classified as equity.  Incremental costs directly attributable to the issue of new
stock units or options are shown in equity as a deduction, net of taxes, from the proceeds.

Dividends

Provision is made for the amount of any dividends declared, being appropriately authorised and no longer
at the discretion of the entity, or before the end of the reporting period but not distributed at the end of the
year.

(t) Segment reporting
Operating segments are reported in a manner consistent with the internal reporting provided to the chief
operating decision-maker. The chief operating decision-maker, who is responsible for allocating resources
and assessing performance of the operating segments, has been identified as the General Manager who
makes strategic decisions.
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3. Critical Accounting Judgements and Key Sources of Estimation Uncertainty

Judgements and estimates are continually evaluated and are based on historical experience and other factors,
including expectations of future events that are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances.

(a) Critical judgements in applying the company’s accounting policies
In the process of applying the company’s accounting policies, management has made no judgements which
it believes present a significant risk of material misstatement to the amounts recognised in the financial
statements.

(b) Key sources of estimation uncertainty
The company makes estimates and assumptions concerning the future. The resulting accounting estimates
will, by definition, seldom equal the related actual results. The estimates and assumptions that have a
significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within the
next financial year are discussed below.

Estimates of claims liabilities
The determination of the liabilities under insurance contracts represents the liability for future claims
payable by the company based on contracts for the insurance business in force at the statement of
financial position date using several methods, including the Loss Development method and the
Bornhuetter-Ferguson Projection method. These liabilities represent the amount of future payments that
will, in the opinion of the actuary, be sufficient to pay future claims relating to contracts of insurance in
force, as well as meet the other expenses incurred in connection with such contracts. A margin for risk or
uncertainty (adverse deviations) in these assumptions is added to the liability. The assumptions are
examined each year in order to determine their validity in light of current best estimates or to reflect
emerging trends in the company’s experience.

Claims are analysed separately between those arising from damage to insured property and consequential
losses. Claims arising from damage to insured property can be estimated with greater reliability, and the
company’s estimation processes reflect all the factors that influence the amount and timing of cash flows
from these contracts. The shorter settlement period for these claims allows the company to achieve a
higher degree of certainty about the estimated cost of claims, and relatively little IBNR is held at year-end.
However, the longer time needed to assess the emergence of claims arising from consequential losses
makes the estimation process more uncertain for these claims.

Recoverability of deferred tax assets in relation to tax losses
At the end of the financial year, the company had a deferred tax asset of $421,310,000
(2020 - $458,364,000) in relation to tax losses carried forward. The company is of the view that it will
generate sufficient profits in the future to enable utilisation of these tax losses, and consequently, recovery
of the deferred tax asset. In the future, should the company not generate sufficient future profits to utilise
these losses, there will be an adjustment to the carrying value of the deferred tax asset, which would be
recognised as a deferred tax charge in arriving at the company’s net profit or loss.
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4. Insurance and Financial Risk Management

The company’s activities expose it to a variety of insurance and financial risks and those activities involve the

analysis, evaluation, acceptance and management of some degree of risk or combination of risks. Taking risk is

core to the financial business, and the operational risks are an inevitable consequence of being in business. The

company’s aim is therefore to achieve an appropriate balance between risk and return and minimise potential

adverse effects on the company’s financial performance.

The company’s risk management policies are designed to identify and analyse these risks, to set appropriate

risk limits and controls, and to monitor the risks and adherence to limits by means of reliable and up-to-date

information systems. The company regularly reviews its risk management policies and systems to reflect

changes in markets, products and emerging best practice.

The Board of Directors is ultimately responsible for the establishment and oversight of the company’s risk

management framework. The Board has established committees and departments, for managing and

monitoring risks, as follows:

(i) Finance Department

This Department is responsible for managing the company’s assets and liabilities and the overall financial

structure. It is also primarily responsible for managing the funding and liquidity risks of the company.

(ii) Audit Committee

The Audit Committee oversees how the company’s management monitors compliance with risk

management policies and procedures and reviews the adequacy of the risk management framework in

relation to the risks faced by the company. The Audit Committee is assisted in its oversight role by Internal

Audit. Internal Audit undertakes both regular and ad hoc reviews of risk management controls and

procedures at the company, the results of which are reported to the Audit Committee.

69Annual Report 2021



Page 21

Key Insurance Company Limited 
Notes to the Financial Statements 
31 December 2021 
(expressed in Jamaican dollars unless otherwise indicated) 

4. Insurance and Financial Risk Management (Continued)

The most significant types of risk faced by the company are insurance risk, reinsurance risk, credit risk, liquidity
risk, market risk and other operational risk. Market risk includes currency risk, interest rate and other price risk.

There has been no significant change to the company’s exposure to insurance and financial risks, or the
manner in which it manages and measures these risks.

The company issues contracts that transfer insurance risk. This section summarises the risk and the way the
company manages the risk.

(a) Insurance risk
The risk under any one insurance contract is the possibility that the insured event occurs and the
uncertainty of the amount of the resulting claim. By the very nature of an insurance contract, this risk is
random and therefore unpredictable.

For a portfolio of insurance contracts where the theory of probability is applied to pricing and provisioning,
the principal risk that the company faces under its insurance contracts is that the actual claims payments
exceed the carrying amount of the insurance liabilities. This could occur because the frequency or severity
of the claims and benefits are greater than estimated. Insurance events are random and the actual number
and amount of claims and benefits will vary from year to year from the level established using statistical
techniques.

Experience shows that the larger the portfolio of similar contracts, the smaller the relative variability about
the expected outcome will be. In addition, a more diversified portfolio is less likely to be affected across the
board by a change in any subset of the portfolio. The company has developed its insurance underwriting
strategy to diversify the type of insurance risks accepted and within each of these categories to achieve a
sufficiently large population of risks to reduce the variability of the expected outcome.

Factors that increase insurance risk include lack of risk diversification in terms of type and amount of risk and
geographical location.

Management maintains an appropriate balance between commercial and personal policies and type of
policies based on guidelines set by the Board of Directors. Insurance risk arising from the issuance of
insurance contracts by the company is, however, concentrated within Jamaica.

The company has the right to re-price the risk on renewal. It also has the ability to impose deductibles and
reject fraudulent claims. Where applicable, contracts are underwritten by reference to the commercial
replacement value of the properties or other assets and contents insured. Claims payment limits are always
included to cap the amount payable on occurrence of the insured event. Cost of rebuilding properties, of
replacement or indemnity for other assets and contents and time taken to restart operations for business
interruption are the key factors that influence the level of claims under these policies.
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4. Insurance and Financial Risk Management (Continued)

(a) Insurance risk (continued)
Claims on insurance contracts are payable on a claims-occurrence basis. The company is liable for all
insured events that occurred during the term of the contract, even if the loss is discovered after the end of
the contract term. As a result, liability claims are settled over a long period of time and a portion of the
claims provision relates to IBNR claims. There are several variables that affect the amount and timing of
cash flows from these contracts. These mainly relate to the inherent risks of the business activities carried
out by individual contract holders and the risk management procedures they adopted. The compensation
paid on these contracts is the monetary awards granted for bodily injury suffered by employees (for
employer’s liability covers) or members of the public (for public liability covers). Such awards are lump-
sum payments that are calculated as the present value of the lost earnings and rehabilitation expenses
that the injured party will incur as a result of the accident.

The estimated cost of claims includes direct expenses to be incurred in settling claims, net of the expected
subrogation value and other recoveries. The company takes all reasonable steps to ensure that it has
appropriate information regarding its claim’s exposures. However, given the uncertainty in establishing
claims provisions, it is likely that the final outcome will prove to be different from the original liability
established. The liability for these contracts comprises a provision for IBNR, a provision for reported claims
not yet paid and a provision for unexpired risks at the statement of financial position date.

In calculating the estimated cost of unpaid claims (both reported and not), the company uses estimation
techniques that are a combination of loss-ratio based estimates (where the loss ratio is defined as the ratio
between the ultimate cost of insurance claims and insurance premiums earned in a particular financial
year in relation to such claims) and an estimate based upon actual claims experience using predetermined
formulae where greater weight is given to actual claims experience as time passes.

The initial loss-ratio estimate is an important assumption in the estimation technique and is based on
previous years’ experience, adjusted for factors such as premium rate changes, anticipated market
experience and historical claims inflation. The initial estimate of the loss ratios used for the current year
(before reinsurance) is analysed by type of risk for current and prior year premiums earned.

The estimation of IBNR is generally subject to a greater degree of uncertainty than the estimation of the
cost of settling claims already notified to the company, where information about the claim event is
available. IBNR claims may not be apparent to the insured until many years after the event that gave rise
to the claims. For casualty contracts, the IBNR proportion of the total liability is high and will typically
display greater variations between initial estimates and final outcomes because of the greater degree of
difficulty of estimating these liabilities.

In estimating the liability for the cost of reported claims not yet paid, the company considers any
information available from loss adjusters and information on the cost of settling claims with similar
characteristics in previous periods. Large claims are assessed on a case-by-case basis or projected
separately in order to allow for the possible distortive effect of their development and incidence on the rest
of the portfolio.
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4. Insurance and Financial Risk Management (Continued)

(a) Insurance risk (continued)
Management sets policy and retention limits. The policy limit and maximum net retention of any one risk
for each class of insurance for the year are as follows:

2021 2020 

Policy 
Limit 

    ‘000 

Maximum 
Net Retention 

‘000 

Policy 
Limit 
‘000 

Maximum 
Net Retention 

‘000 

Commercial property – 

 Fire and consequential loss US$  6,500 US$  375 US$  6,000 US$  200 

 Boiler and machinery US$  1,500 US$  375 US$  1,125 US$  281 

  Miscellaneous accident  US$  160  US$  64 US$  160 US$  64 

Bankers’ blanket US$  300 US$  120 US$  300 US$  120 

Contractor’s All Risk US$  2,500 US$  375 US$  1,500 US$  375 

Liability US$  2,500 US$  750 US$  2,500 US$  750 

Travel US$  150 US$  15 US$  150 US$  15 

Other US$  50 US$  20 US$  50 US$  20 

Motor J$    73,000  J$36,500 J$  70,000 J$  35,000 

Pecuniary loss - 

Fidelity US$  480 US$  192 US$  480 US$  192 

Personal accident US$   10,000 US$  500 US$  10,000 US$  500 

Sensitivity Analysis of Actuarial Liabilities 
The determination of actuarial liabilities is sensitive to a number of assumptions, and changes in those 
assumptions could have a significant effect on the valuation results. A summary of the actuarial 
assumptions is disclosed in Note 24. 

Development Claim Liabilities 
In addition to sensitivity analysis, the development of insurance liabilities provides a measure of the 
company’s ability to estimate the ultimate value of claims. The table below illustrates how the company’s 
estimate of total claims outstanding for each year has changed at successive year-ends. Updated unpaid 
claims and adjustment expenses (UCAE) and IBNR estimates in each successive year, as well as 
amounts paid to date are used to derive the revised amounts for the ultimate claims’ liability for each 
accident year, used in the development calculations. These amounts are shown net of reinsurance 
recovery. 

Amounts shown in the table as excess or deficiency represent the percentage difference between the 
estimate of the claims’ liability (amounts paid to date plus amounts currently in reserve) at the end of each 
accident year, when compared to amounts initially reserved at the end of the accident year when the claim 
first arose. For each accident year, ratios are calculated on losses occurring during the year, and in all 
years prior to that accident year.  
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4. Insurance and Financial Risk Management (Continued)

(a) Insurance risk (continued)

Development claim liabilities (continued)

016 r 39 

ar 54 

17 r 12 07 619 

ar 54 942 96 

018 r 293 505 98 41 39 

ar 654 42 96 45 41 

19 r  084 10 94 231 25 96 621 

ar 885 52 37 10 47 48 95 

20 r   45 30 75 215 90 51 541 193

ar 52 83 535 554 89 42 931 335

021 r   96 6 892 185 77 84 461 197

ar 36 3 69 900 69 88 357 

   2016 2017    2017 2018    2018 2019 2019 2020  2020 2021 2021 

and and and and and and 

prior prior prior prior prior prior 
2016 Paid during year 259,839 

UCAE, end of 
year 308,842 
IBNR, end of year 166,654 
Ratio: excess 

(deficiency) 

2017 Paid during year 211,412  159,207 370,619 
UCAE, end of 
year 144,999 155,770 300,768 
IBNR, end of year 166,654 16,942 183,596 
Ratio: excess 

(deficiency) (16.51%) 

2018 Paid during year 81,293 290,505 371,798 300,941 672,739 
UCAE, end of 
year 113,109 89,127 202,236 294,423 496,659 
IBNR, end of year 166,654 16,942 183,596 131,345 314,941 
Ratio: excess 

(deficiency) (27.51%) (56.42%) 

2019 Paid during year  52,084 77,310 129,394 429,231 558,625 309,996 868,621 
UCAE, end of 
year 84,829 72,045 156,874 193,300 350,174 (135,958) 214,216 
IBNR, end of year 22,885 28,352 51,237 118,610 169,847 163,348 333,195 
Ratio: excess 

(deficiency) (0.79%) (46.44%) (32.90%) 

2020 Paid during year   23,345 18,130 41,475 68,215 109,690 280,851 390,541 193,338 583,879 
UCAE, end of 
year 71,866 55,400 127,266 119,667 246,933 239,763 486,696 294,354 781,050 
IBNR, end of year 43,052 35,483 78,535 71,554 150,089 131,842 281,931 335,341 617,272 
Ratio: excess 

(deficiency) (7.60%) (176.08%) (54.53%) (61.75%) (31.26%) (2,282.10%) (111.75%) 
2021 Paid during year   10,996 15,896 26,892 29,185 56,077 84,384 140,461 197,649 338,110 325,880 663,990 

UCAE, end of 
year 3,795 259 4,054 1,664 5,718 1,594 7,312 1,000 8,312 376,018 384,330 

IBNR, end of year 3,036 933 3,969 1,900 5,869 488 6,357 5,092 11,449 250,980 262,429 
Ratio: excess 

(deficiency) 12.69% (256.8%) (69.29%) 5.6% (4.74%) (239.04%)  0.5% 67.64% 74.41% 
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4. Insurance and Financial Risk Management (Continued)

(a) Insurance risk (continued)

Risk exposure and concentrations of risk:

The following table shows the company’s exposure to general insurance risk (based on the carrying value
of insurance provisions at the reporting date) per major category of business. The company has its largest
risk concentration in the motor line.

2021 

Liability Property Motor Other Total 

$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 

Gross Claims liability (not 
including IBNR) 28,041 11,863 916,829 8,211 964,944 

Net Claims liability (not 
including IBNR) 9,366 1,020 372,365 1,579 384,330 

Gross IBNR & ULAE 13,968 5,910 495,478 4,091 519,447 

Net IBNR & ULAE 20,588 9,753 225,646 6,442 262,429 

Gross and Net Unexpired 
Risk Reserve 664 8,404 14,976 1,869 25,913 

2020 

Liability Property Motor Other Total 

$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 

Gross Claims liability (not 
including IBNR) 25,527 112,587 783,562 14,382 936,058 

Net Claims liability (not 
including IBNR) 6,179 7,840 764,320 2,711 781,050 

Gross IBNR & ULAE 3,870 17,070 622,569 2,181 645,690 

Net IBNR & ULAE 2,101 7,494 606,563 1,114 617,272 

Gross and Net Unexpired 
Risk Reserve 991 1,111 108,019 379 110,500 
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4. Insurance and Financial Risk Management (Continued)

(b) Reinsurance risk

To limit its exposure of potential loss on an insurance policy, the company may cede certain levels of risk to a
reinsurer. The company selects reinsurers which have established capability to meet their contractual
obligations, and which generally have high credit ratings. The credit ratings of reinsurers are monitored.

Risk transfer may be done via a treaty or facultatively.  Both reinsurance treaties and facultative
arrangements are done in order limit the financial exposure that may arise from claims and also to stabilise
the company’s loss ratios.

For risks written in the property department, the company uses both proportional and non-proportional
treaties otherwise called excess of loss treaties.  The proportional treaties used are referred to as ‘quota
share’ and ‘first surplus’.  For these types of treaties, a fixed percentage of the sum insured, and premium
is ceded to the treaty reinsurer who will in the event of a claim pay the same share of the claim.

The company purchases catastrophe excess of loss reinsurance to protect the portion of risks it retains to
its net account from the accumulation and severity of losses that can occur after a catastrophe e.g. an
earthquake or hurricane.

The company also buys motor excess of loss to protect against the frequency of losses.  The treaty
participates on each and every motor claim which exceeds the deductible up to the treaty limit. Facultative
reinsurance is used by insurance companies on a risk-by-risk basis.  The most common reason for
facultative reinsurance is to reduce the exposure one has on a particular risk.  Facultative reinsurance can
be done locally or overseas.   The insurance company, which obtains the initial contract, will seek another
insurance company to accept a set percentage of the sum insured for which the company accepting the
business is a paid premium.  If there is a claim, the facultative reinsurer will then pay its portion of the claim
to the company from which the business was obtained.

Retention limits represent the level of risk retained by the company. Coverage in excess of these limits is
ceded to reinsurers up to the treaty limit. The retention programs used by the company are summarised
below:

(i) The maximum exposure on insurance policies for outward facultative reinsurance arrangement for
motor vehicles and non-motor business is J$22,000,000 and US$25,500,000 respectively
(2020 - J$15,000,000 and J$71,000,000) per any one loss.
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4. Insurance and Financial Risk Management (Continued)

(b) Reinsurance risk (continued)

(ii) The company insures with several reinsurers who take up 5% to 100% of their treaty arrangements.
The financial analysis of reinsurers, which is conducted at the Board level, produces an assessment
categorised by a Standard & Poors (S&P) rating (or equivalent when not available from S&P). The
significant reinsurers are as follows:

Ratings 

Munich Re AA- 

Hanover Re*  AA- 

Odyssey Re A- 

GIC Re B++ 

Patria A 

Sirius International (UK) A+ 

Scor Re AA- 

Knutsford Re A 

Lloyds Syndicate A 

R&V Re A 

K2 Peak Re A 

QBE Re A+ 

At 31 December 2021 and 31 December 2020, the company has maintained the appropriate reinsurance 
arrangements to cover all classes of business and products as is required by the Regulators. 

Reinsurance recoveries/(payables) recognised during the year are as follows: 

2021 2020 

$’000 $’000 

Property (36,681) 100,020 

Motor 111,520 20,029 

Engineering (427) 1,413

Accident (4,771) 2,935

Liability (5,876) (1,946)

63,765 122,451 
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4. Insurance and Financial Risk Management (Continued)

(c) Financial risk
The company is exposed to financial risk through its financial assets and liabilities, including its reinsurance
assets and insurance liabilities. In particular the key financial risk is that the proceeds from its financial
assets may not be sufficient to fund the obligations arising from its insurance contracts. The most important
components of this financial risk are interest rate risk, market risk, cash flow risk, currency risk and credit
risk.

(i) Credit risk
The company takes on exposure to credit risk, which is the risk that its customers, clients or
counterparties will cause a financial loss for the company by failing to discharge their contractual
obligations. Credit risk is one of the most important risks for the company’s business; management
therefore carefully manages its exposure to credit risk. Credit exposures arise principally from the
amounts due from reinsurers, amounts due from insurance contract holders and insurance brokers and
investment activities.

The company structures the levels of credit risk it undertakes by placing limits on the amount of risk
accepted in relation to a single counterparty or groups of related counterparties.

Credit review process

Management of the company regularly assesses the ability of customers, brokers and other
counterparties to meet repayment obligations.

(i) Reinsurance

Reinsurance is used to manage insurance risk. This does not, however, discharge the
company’s liability as primary insurer. If a reinsurer fails to pay a claim for any reason, the
company remains liable for the payment to the policyholder. The creditworthiness of reinsurers is
considered on an annual basis by reviewing their financial strength prior to finalisation of any
contract.

Management assesses the creditworthiness of the approved reinsurers and intermediaries by
reviewing credit grades provided by rating agencies and other publicly available financial
information.

(ii) Premium and other receivables
Management utilises periodic reports to assist in monitoring any premiums that are overdue.
Where necessary, cancellation of policies is effected for amounts deemed uncollectible.

(iii) Investments, bank and deposit balances
The company limits its exposure to credit risk by investing mainly in liquid securities, with
counterparties that have high credit quality, and Government of Jamaica securities.  Accordingly,
management does not expect any counterparty to fail to meet its obligations.

77Annual Report 2021



Page 29

Key Insurance Company Limited 
Notes to the Financial Statements 
31 December 2021 
(expressed in Jamaican dollars unless otherwise indicated) 

4. Insurance and Financial Risk Management (Continued)

(c) Financial risk (continued)

(i) Credit risk (continued)

Exposure to credit risk

2021 2020 

$’000 $’000 

Subject to expected credit losses: 

Cash and short term investments 1,474,237 745,183 

Financial assets at fair value through other 

comprehensive income 776,970 172,082 

Receivables from agents, brokers & policyholders 258,833 190,930 

Recoverable from reinsurers and coinsurers  1,059,554 363,946 

3,569,594 1,472,141 

The maximum exposure to credit risk at the end of the reporting period is the carrying amount of each 
class of financial assets mentioned above.  
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4. Insurance and Financial Risk Management (Continued)

(c) Financial risk (continued)

(i) Credit risk (continued)
Debt securities

The following table summarises the credit exposure for debt securities at their carrying amounts, as
categorised by issuer:

2021 
$’000 

2020 
$’000 

Government of Jamaica 746,636 141,764 

Corporate  30,334 30,318 

776,970 172,082 

The maximum credit exposure arising from the company’s other financial assets equals their carrying 
amounts on the statement of financial position. 

Impairment of financial assets 

The company the following types of financial assets that are subject to IFRS 9’s expected credit loss model: 

• Receivables from agents, brokers and policyholders;

• Reinsurance receivables;

• Intercompany receivables;

• Cash and cash equivalents; and

• Debt investments carried at FVOCI.

While intercompany receivables, reinsurance receivables and cash and cash equivalents are subject to the 
impairment requirements of IFRS 9, the identified impairment loss was immaterial. 

Receivables from agents, brokers and policyholders  
The company applies the IFRS 9 simplified approach to measuring expected credit loss (ECL) which uses 
a lifetime expected loss allowance for all receivables from agents, brokers and policyholders. 

To measure the expected credit losses, receivables from agents, brokers and policyholders have been 
grouped based on shared credit risk characteristics and the days past due.  
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4. Insurance and Financial Risk Management (Continued)

(c) Financial risk (continued)

(i) Credit risk (continued)
Impairment of financial assets

Receivables from agents, brokers and policyholders (continued)
The expected loss rates are based on the liquidation profiles of sales over a period of 36 month before
31 December 2021 or 31 December 2020, respectively, and the corresponding historical credit losses
experienced within this period. The historical loss rates are adjusted to reflect current and forward-
looking information on macroeconomic factors affecting the ability of the customers to settle the
receivables. The company has identified the unemployment rate to be the most relevant macro-
economic factor, and accordingly adjusts the historical loss rates based on expected changes in this
factor.

The credit exposure for agent, broker and policyholder receivables is $282,569,000
(2020 - $262,892,000).  Movement in impairment is reconciled below.

On that basis, the loss allowance as at 31 December 2021 and 31 December 2020 was determined as
follows for receivables from agents, brokers and policyholders:

31 December 2021 
0-60

Days

61-120
Days

Over Due 

121-180
Days

Over Due 

More 
than 180 

Days 
Over Due Total 

$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 
Agent, Broker and 
Policyholders receivables 95,433 81,102 22,302 83,732 282,569 
Expected loss rate  2.64% 4.53% 6.87% 19.12% 

Loss allowance 2,517 3,676 1,532 16,011 23,736 

31 December 2020 
0-60

Days

61-120
Days

Over Due 

121-180
Days Over 

Due 

More 
than 180 

Days 
Over Due Total 

$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 
Agent and Broker and 
Policyholders receivables 88,383 54,219 19,919 100,371 262,892 
Expected loss rate  2.37% 4.75% 6.62% 66.73% 

Loss allowance 2,093 2,576 1,318 65,975 71,962 
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4. Insurance and Financial Risk Management (Continued)

(c) Financial risk (continued)

(i) Credit risk (continued)
Impairment of financial assets (continued)

Receivables from agents, brokers and policyholders (continued)

The movement in the loss allowance is as follows:

2021 2020 
$’000 $’000) 

At 1 January  71,962 64,243 
Write offs     (56,224) - 
Movement on loss allowance recognised in profit or loss 
during the year 7,998 7,719 

At 31 December 23,736 71,962 

Receivables from agents, brokers and policyholders are written off when there is no reasonable 
expectation of recovery. Indicators that there is no reasonable expectation of recovery include, 
amongst others, the failure of a debtor to engage in a repayment plan with the company, failure to 
make contractual payments for a period greater than one year, and alternative methods of debt 
collection have been exhausted. 

Debt investments 

Expected credit loss (ECL) for debt instruments at FVOCI were measured using lifetime expected 
losses. Management considered whether there were significant increases in credit risks associated 
with these investments since origination and concluded that sufficient information was unavailable to 
assess the credit risk at origination. Additionally, the low credit risk criteria were not met as investments 
were ranked below investment grade; a key criterion in classifying an investment as having a low credit 
risk. 

The key parameters used in the ECL model, including probabilities of defaults (PDs), loss given default 
(LGDs) and probability-weighted scenarios were obtained from externally published information by an 
established rating agency.  
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4. Insurance and Financial Risk Management (Continued)

(c) Financial risk (continued)

(i) Credit risk (continued)
Impairment of financial assets (continued)

Debt investments (continued)

Probability of default (PD)
The parameters for PDs were developed by the rating agency by tracking and analysing rating and
historical default information over a 33 years’ period for 132 countries and presents a 10-year issuer-  
weighted default study. The default rate is calculated by averaging the experiences of the issuers on a
month by month basis over the 33 year period.

Loss given default (LGD)
As a base case in determining LGDs, management considered published recovery data associated
with historical defaulted sovereign bonds. Based on this report, the observable loss rate on historically
defaulted local bonds was on average 20%. Management is therefore of the view that a similar loss
rate will be experienced on local bonds in the event of a future default. Management judgement was
used to further adjust this expected loss rate for corporate and global bonds on the with the credit
quality of the issuer as well as the tenure being the primary drivers as to the level of adjustment made.

Exposure at default (EAD)
EAD represents the carrying value of the financial instrument at the point of an expected default event
and is limited to the contractual life of the respective instruments. Based on the nature of the securities
held by the company, being non-amortising, the cash flow includes the periodic interest payment
followed by lump sum upon contractual maturity. The EAD is therefore deemed by management to be
the unpaid principal as well as the unpaid interest at the point of the expected default.

Forward-looking consideration
Management considered the need to adjust the key parameters to incorporate forward looking
information in calculating expected credit losses. A historical assessment was performed to determine
the relationship between historical default events, loss experiences and key macro-economic
indicators. Macro-economic indicators considered include gross domestic product (GDP),
unemployment rate as well as other factors such as the impact of any regulatory, legislative or political
changes. Based on these assessments, there were no observable relationships between the historical
default events or loss experiences and the macro-economic indicators. Additionally, the local economy
has been relatively stable and showing signs of modest growth. Management has therefore concluded
that there are no forecast events or changes in key macro-economic variables that would materially -
impact the ECL parameters and as such no adjustments were made for these factors. This
assessment is reviewed and monitored for appropriateness on a quarterly basis.
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4. Insurance and Financial Risk Management (Continued)

(c) Financial risk (continued)

(i) Credit risk (continued)
Impairment of financial assets (continued)

Debt investments (continued)

Probability-weighted scenarios
As with any forecasts, the projections and likelihoods of occurrence are subject to a high degree of
inherent uncertainty and therefore the actual outcomes may be different to those projected. ECL is
therefore required to be measured in a way that reflects an unbiased and probability-weighted amount
that is determined by evaluating a range of possible outcomes. To achieve this, management
considered the probability that the expected rating of an instrument will remain in the current rating
bucket (base case), increase by one rating bucket (upside) and decrease by one rating bucket
(downside).

The probability outcomes were obtained from data published by a reputable rating agency which
presents an analysis of historical rating migration of debt instruments over a 33 year period.

Discounting
ECL is measured in a way that reflects the time value of money. As such, cash shortfall associated with
expected defaults are discounted back to the statement of financial position date. This is done by
calculating the present value of the undiscounted ECL using the original effective interest rate (EIR) on
each instrument.

Debt investments at FVOCI
The loss allowance for debt investments at FVOCI is recognised in profit or loss and reduces the fair
value loss otherwise recognised in OCI.

The loss allowance for debt investments at FVOCI is as follows:

2021         2020 
$’000)       $’000) 

At 1 January   4,440        4,440 
Movement on loss allowance recognised in profit or loss 

during the year 2,472     - 
At 31 December  6,912    4,440 
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4. Insurance and Financial Risk Management (Continued)

(c) Financial risk (continued)

(ii) Liquidity risk

Liquidity risk is the risk that the company may be unable to meet its payment obligations associated
with its financial liabilities when they fall due and to replace funds when they are withdrawn. The
consequence may be the failure to meet obligations to fulfill claims and other liabilities incurred.

Liquidity risk management process

The company’s liquidity management process, as carried out within the company and monitored by the
Finance Department, includes:

(i) Monitoring future cash flows and liquidity on an on-going basis;

(ii) Maintaining a portfolio of highly marketable and diverse assets that can easily be liquidated as
protection against any unforeseen interruption to cash flow;

(iii) Optimising cash returns on investments;

(iv) Monitoring statement of financial position liquidity ratios against internal and regulatory
requirements; and

(v) Managing the concentration and profile of debt maturities.

Monitoring and reporting take the form of cash flow measurement and projections monthly. The starting 
point for those projections is an analysis of the contractual maturity of the financial liabilities and the 
expected collection date of the financial assets. 

The matching and controlled mismatching of the maturities and interest rates of assets and liabilities is 
fundamental to the management of the company. It is unusual for companies ever to be completely 
matched since business transactions are often of uncertain terms and of different types. An unmatched 
position potentially enhances profitability but can also increase the risk of loss. 

The maturities of assets and liabilities and the ability to replace, at an acceptable cost, 
interest-bearing liabilities as they mature, are important factors in assessing the liquidity of the 
company and its exposure to changes in interest rates and exchange rates. 
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4. Insurance and Financial Risk Management (Continued)

(c) Financial risk (continued)
(ii) Liquidity risk (continued)

Financial liabilities and insurance liabilities cash flows

The table below presents the undiscounted cash flows of the company’s financial liabilities and
insurance liabilities, as well as the company’s insurance liabilities at the statement of financial position
date, based on contractual repayment obligations.

Within 3 
Month 

3 to 12 
Months 

 1 to 5 

 Years 

 Over 5 

 Years Total 

$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 

2021 

Financial and Insurance 
Liabilities 

Other payables 208,785 - - - 208,785 

Lease liability 3,465 4,523 3,658 - 11,646

Due to reinsurers 800,420 - - - 800,420 

Claims outstanding 964,944 - - - 964,944 

1,977,614 4,423 3,658 - 1,985,795

Assets available to meet all the liabilities and to cover financial and insurance liabilities include cash 

and short-term deposits, and investment securities. The company is also able to meet unexpected net 

cash outflows by accessing additional funding sources from other financial institutions. Equities are 

not included.  

Within 1 
Month 

3 to 12  
Months 

 1 to 5 

 Years 

 Over 5 

 Years Total 

$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 

2020 

Financial and 
Insurance Liabilities 

Other payables 133,395 - - -    133,395 

Lease liability 3,079 3,364 2,205 - 8,648

Due to reinsurers 151,937 - - - 151,937 

Claims outstanding 936,058 - - 936,058 

1,224,469 3,364 2,205 - 1,230,038
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4. Insurance and Financial Risk Management (Continued)

(c) Financial risk (continued)
(iii) Market risk

The company takes on exposure to market risks, which is the risk that the fair value or future cash
flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate because of changes in market prices. Market risks mainly
arise from changes in foreign currency exchange rates and interest rates. Market risk is monitored by
the Finance Department which monitors the price movement of financial assets on the local market.

Currency risk
Currency risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate
because of changes in foreign exchange rates.

The company manages its foreign exchange risk by ensuring that the net exposure in foreign assets
and liabilities is kept to an acceptable level by monitoring currency positions. The company further
manages this risk by maximising foreign currency earnings from its investments and holding foreign
currency balances.

The company also has transactional currency exposure. Such exposure arises from having financial
assets in currencies other than those in which financial liabilities are expected to settle. The company
ensures that its net exposure is kept to an acceptable level by buying or selling foreign assets to
address short term imbalances.
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4. Insurance and Financial Risk Management (Continued)

(c) Financial risk (continued)
(iii) Market risk (continued)

Currency risk (continued)
Concentrations of currency risk
The table below summarises the exposure to foreign currency exchange rate risk at 31 December.

2021 

Jamaican $   US$ Total 

J$’000 J$’000 J$’000 

Financial and Insurance assets 

Cash and deposits 1,420,800 53,437 1,474,237 

Due from policyholders, brokers  
and agents 222,718 36,115 258,833 

Due from reinsurers 954,415 105,139 1,059,554 

Total financial and insurance assets 2,597,933 194,691 2,792,624 

Financial and Insurance liabilities 

Other payables 126,394 86,811 213,205 

Due to reinsurers 657,498 142,922 800,420 

Insurance reserves 2,350,063 30,901 2,380,964 

Total financial and insurance liabilities 3,133,955 260,634 3,394,589 

Net financial position (536,022) (65,943) (601,965) 
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4. Insurance and Financial Risk Management (Continued)

(c) Financial risk (continued)
(iii) Market risk (continued)

Currency risk (continued)

2020 

Jamaican $ US$ Total 

J$’000 J$’000 J$’000 

Financial and Insurance assets 

Cash and deposits 520,888 224,295 745,183 
Investment securities 172,082 

Due from policyholders, brokers  
and agents 165,939 24,991 

Due from reinsurers 353,224 10,722 

- 172,082

190,930
363,946 

Total financial and insurance assets 1,212,133 260,008 1,472,141 

Financial and Insurance liabilities 

Other payables 121,491 11,904 133,395 
Due to reinsurers 93,694 58,243 151,937 
Insurance reserves 2,255,941 93,510 2,349,451 
Total financial and insurance liabilities 2,471,126 163,657 2,634,783 
Net financial position (1,258,993) 96,351 (1,162,642) 
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4. Insurance and Financial Risk Management (Continued)

(c) Financial risk (continued)
(iii) Market risk (continued)

Currency risk (continued)

Foreign currency sensitivity

The following table indicates the currency to which the company had significant exposure on its
monetary assets and liabilities and its forecast cash flows. The change in currency rate below
represents management’s assessment of the possible change in foreign exchange rates. The
sensitivity analysis represents outstanding foreign currency denominated monetary items and adjusts
their translation at the year-end for an appreciation of 2% and depreciation of 8% (2020 - appreciation
of 2% and a depreciation of 6%) in foreign currency rates. The sensitivity analysis includes cash and
short-term investments, investment securities and amounts due from policyholders, brokers and
agents, and US-dollar denominated liabilities.

 Change in 
Currency 

Rate 
% 

Effect on 
Profit 

 before 
Taxation 

$’000 

Change in 
Currency 

Rate 
% 

Effect on 
Loss 

before 
Taxation 

$’000 

2021 2020 

United States Dollar  

Appreciation of JMD     2 1,319    2 (1,927) 

Depreciation of JMD   8 (5,272) 6 5,781 

 Interest rate risk 
Interest rate risk is the risk that the value or future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate 
because of changes in market interest rates. Floating rate instruments expose the company to cash 
flow interest risk, whereas fixed interest rate instruments expose the company to fair value interest risk. 
The company’s interest rate risk policy requires it to manage interest rate risk by maintaining an 
appropriate mix of fixed and variable rate instruments. The policy also requires it to manage the 
maturities of interest-bearing financial assets and interest-bearing financial liabilities. Management sets 
limits on the level of mismatch of interest rate repricing that may be undertaken, which is monitored by 
the Finance Department. 
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4. Insurance and Financial Risk Management (Continued)

(c) Financial risk (continued)
(iii) Market risk (continued)

Interest rate risk (continued)

The following tables summarise the company’s exposure to interest rate risk at the statement of
financial position date. It includes financial instruments as well as insurance assets and liabilities at
carrying amounts, categorised by the earlier of contractual repricing or maturity dates.

2021 

Within 1 
Month 

 1 to 3 
Months 

3 to 12 
Months 

1 to 5 
Years 

Over 5 
Years 

Non- 
Interest  
Bearing  Total 

$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 

Financial and 
Insurance assets 

Cash and deposits 1,139,395 302,745 - - - 31,797 1,473,937 

Investment securities - 30,000 - 369,602 369,160 11,287 780,049 

Due from policyholders, 
brokers and agents - - - - - 258,833 258,833 

Due from reinsurers - - - - - 1,059,554 1,059,554

1,139,395 332,745 - 369,602 369,160 1,361,471 3,572,373 

Financial and 
Insurance liabilities 

Other payables - - - - - 208,785 208,785 

Lease liability 1,087 2,193 4,231 3,471 - - 10,982 

Due to reinsurers - - - - - 800,420 800,420 

Claims outstanding - - - - - 964,944 964,944 

Unearned premiums - - - - - 823,686 823,686 

Unearned commissions - - - - - 46,974 46,974 

IBNR & ULAE - - - - - 519,447 519,447 

Unexpired risk reserve - - - - - 25,913 25,913 

1,087 2,193 4,231 3,471 - 3,390,169 3,401,151

Total interest repricing 
gap 1,138,308 330,552 (4,231) 366,131 369,160 (2,028,698) 171,222 
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4. Insurance and Financial Risk Management (Continued)

(c) Financial risk (continued)
(iii) Market risk (continued)

Interest rate risk (continued)

2020 

Within 1 
Month 

 1 to 3 
Months 3 to 12 

1 to 5 
Years 

Over 5 
Years 

Non- 
Interest 
Bearing  Total 

$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 

Financial and 
Insurance assets 

Cash and deposits 515,645 228,210 - - - 1,328 745,183 

Investment securities - 5,097 - 30,779 136,207 223,591 395,674 

Due from policyholders, 
brokers and agents - - - - - 190,930 190,930 

Due from reinsurers - - - - - 363,946 363,946 

Other receivables - - - - - 29,856 29,856 

515,645 233,307 - 30,779 136,207 809,651 1,725,589 

Financial and 
Insurance liabilities 

Other payables - - - - - 136,279 136,279 

Lease liability 905 1,828 2,528 3,387 - - 8,648 

Due to reinsurers - - - - - 151,937 151,937 

Claims outstanding - - - - - 936,058 936,058 

Unearned premiums - - - - - 618,973 618,973 

Unearned commissions - - - - - 38,230 38,230 

IBNR, PFAD & ULAE - - - - - 645,690 645,690 

Unexpired risk reserve - - - - - 110,500 110,500 

905 1,828 2,528 3,387 - 2,637,667 2,646,315

Total interest repricing 
gap 514,740 231,479 (2,528) 27,392 136,207 (1,828,016) (920,726) 

Interest rate sensitivity/ Fair value price risk 
Interest rate sensitivity measures the sensitivity of the financial assets and liabilities of the company to a 
reasonable possible change in interest rates, with all other variables held constant, on the profit or loss in 
the statement of comprehensive income and in other comprehensive income. 
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4. Insurance and Financial Risk Management (Continued)

(c) Financial risk (continued)
(iii) Market risk (continued)

Interest rate risk (continued)

Interest rate sensitivity/Fair value price risk (continued)
The company is exposed to equity and bond fair value price risk because of investments held by the
company classified as fair value through other comprehensive income. To manage its price risk arising
from investments in equity securities, the company diversifies its portfolio. Diversification of the portfolio
is done in accordance with the limits set by the company.

The company’s investments in quoted equity securities are publicly traded on the Jamaica Stock
Exchange.

The following table indicates the sensitivity to a reasonably possible change in prices of equity and bond
securities, with all other variables held constant on other comprehensive income.

There is no impact on the profit or loss for investment securities as none are variable rate instruments or
are classified at fair value through profit or loss.  The sensitivity of other comprehensive income is the
effect of the assumed fair value changes of investment securities classified as fair value through other
comprehensive income.

Effect on 

Other 
Comprehensive 

Income 

Effect on 

Other 
Comprehensive 

Income 

2021 

$’000 

2020 

$’000 

Percentage change equity values: 

5% (2020 - 7%) increase 154 15,651 

5% (2020 - 12.5%) decrease (154) (27,949)

Change in basis points - bond: 
JMD/USD 300/+100 (2020: JMD/USD +100) (1,583) (867) 

JMD/USD 300/-50 (2020: JMD/USD -100)  1,592 867 

5. Capital Management

The company’s objectives when managing capital, which is a broader concept than the ‘equity’ on the face of
statement of financial position, are:

(a) To comply with the capital requirements set by the regulators, the FSC;

(b) To safeguard the company’s ability to continue as a going concern so that it can continue to provide
returns for its shareholders and for other stakeholders; and

(c) To maintain a strong capital base to support the development of its business.
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5. Capital Management (Continued)

Capital adequacy is managed and monitored by the company’s management. It is calculated by the Chief
Financial Officer, certified by the Appointed Actuary and reviewed by Executive Management, the Audit
Committee and the Board of Directors. The company seeks to maintain internal capital adequacy at levels
higher than the regulatory requirements.

Available capital includes issued capital, retained earnings, fair value reserves and capital reserves
amounted to $1,074,718,000 (2020 - $258,977,000) at the end of the year.

The primary measure used to assess capital adequacy is the minimum capital test (MCT) which is used by the
FSC to determine the solvency of the company.  The minimum standard stipulated by the section 17(4) of the
Insurance (Actuaries) (General Insurance Companies) (Amendment) regulations, 2011 is that a general
insurance company shall have a minimum MCT percentage of 250% (2020 – 250%). This information is
required to be filed with the FSC on an annual basis. Under Section 15(1) of the Insurance Act, 2001, the FSC
may cancel the registration of a general insurance company if it is considered to be insolvent.

The company did not qualify for the relaxed MCT ratio.

As at 31 December 2021, the company achieved the minimum required level of capital based on the MCT
ratio. The ratio was not achieved as at 31 December 2020.

2021 2020 

Actual MCT ratio 286.14% (48.40%) 

Minimum required MCT ratio 250% 250% 

Vital to the ongoing operation of the company is its compliance with the local regulatory framework, that is, 
passing the Financial Services Commission (FSC) Minimum Capital Test (MCT) requirement of 250%.   

The following measures were executed during the year to bring the company in compliance with the regulatory 
framework: 

● In January 2021, the company completed a renounceable rights issue which raised gross
consideration of $668 million;

● In February 2021, the company disposed of an investment property for $250 million; and
● In March 2021, the company entered into a proportional reinsurance coverage contract to reduce the

company’s net outstanding liabilities.
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6. Fair Value Estimation

Fair value is the amount for which an asset could be exchanged, or a liability settled, between knowledgeable,
willing parties in an arm’s length transaction. Market price is used to determine fair value where an active market
exists as it is the best evidence of the fair value of a financial instrument. A market is regarded as active if quoted
prices are readily and regularly available from an exchange, dealer, broker, industry group, pricing service, or
regulatory agency, and those prices represent actual and regularly occurring market transactions on an arm’s
length basis. Where no market price is available, the fair values presented have been estimated using present
values or other estimation and valuation techniques based on market conditions existing at statement of financial
position dates.

The values derived from applying these techniques are significantly affected by the underlying assumptions
used concerning both the amounts and timing of future cash flows and the discount rates. The following
methods and assumptions have been used:

(i) Debt securities classified as FVOCI are measured at fair value based upon projected cash flows discounted
at current market rates which have been determined through the use of quotations and yields obtained from
independent brokers.

(ii) The fair values of quoted equity investments are based on current bid prices.

(iii) The fair value of liquid assets and other assets maturing within three months is assumed to approximate
their carrying amount. This assumption is applied to liquid assets and the short-term elements of all other
financial assets and financial liabilities.

(iv) The fair value of variable rate financial instruments is assumed to approximate their carrying amounts, as
these instruments are expected to reprice at the prevailing market rates.

Fair value sensitivity analysis 

Non-financial assets carried at fair value include property, plant and equipment and investment properties, 
which fall within level 3 of the fair value hierarchy.  The valuations have been performed using the sales 
comparison approach. There have been a limited number of similar sales in the local market, and consequently 
the sales comparison approach incorporates unobservable inputs, which in the valuator’s judgement reflects 
suitable adjustments regarding size, age, condition, time of sale and quality of land, buildings and 
improvements.  The most significant input into this valuation is the price per square foot. The higher the price 
per square foot the higher the fair value. 
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6. Fair Value Estimation (Continued)

The following table presents the company’s financial instruments that are measured at fair value at 31 December
grouped into Levels 1 to 3 dependent on the degree to which fair values are observable.

Level 1 Level 2 Total  

$’000 $’000 $’000 

As at 31 December 2021 

Fair value though OCI – 
  Corporate debt 33,413 
 Bank of Jamaica debt securities 

- 33,413
746,636 746,636 

- 780,049 780,049 
As at 31 December 2020 

Fair value though OCI – 
Corporate debt 30,318 

Bank of Jamaica debt securities 
- 30,318

141,764 141,764 

Quoted equities 223,592 - 223,592
223,592 172,082 395,674 

• Level 1 includes those instruments which are measured based on quoted prices in active markets for identical
assets and liabilities. These mainly comprise equities traded on the Jamaica Stock Exchange and are
classified as fair value through OCI.

• Level 2 includes those instruments which are measured using inputs other than quoted prices that are
observable for the instrument, directly or indirectly. The fair value for these instruments is determined by using
valuation techniques and maximise the use of observable market data where it is available and rely as little as
possible on entity specific estimates. If all significant inputs required to fair value an instrument are observable,
the instrument is included in level 2.

• If one or more of the significant inputs is not based on observable market data, the instrument is included in
level 3.

There were no transfers between the levels during the year. 
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7. Responsibilities of the Appointed Actuary and Independent Auditors

The Board of Directors, pursuant to the Insurance Act appoints the Actuary, whose responsibility is to carry out an
annual valuation of the company’s outstanding claims in accordance with accepted actuarial practice and
regulatory requirements and report thereon to the stockholders. In performing the valuation, the Actuary analyses
past experience with respect to number of claims, claims payment and changes in estimates of outstanding
liabilities.

The shareholders, pursuant to the Companies Act, appoint the Independent Auditors. The auditor’s responsibility is
to conduct an independent and objective audit of the financial statements in accordance with International
Standards on Auditing and report thereon to the stockholders. In carrying out their audit, the Auditors also make
use of the work of the appointed Actuary and the Actuary’s report on outstanding claims.

8. Expenses by Nature

2021 
$’000 

2020 
$’000 

Advertising 23,194 17,957 
Amortisation and depreciation (Notes 20, 21, 31) 22,857 23,778 
Asset tax 3,176 5,446 
Auditor’s remuneration  8,135 7,395 
Bank charges 5,618 2,874 
Donations and subscriptions    3,427 8,987 
Computer and data processing expenses 36,543 28,538 
Insurance and registration fees 15,987 7,258 
Travelling   828 936 
Miscellaneous 1,220 2,150 
Motor vehicle expenses 499 976 
Office expenses 7,334 10,536 
Postage, telephone, fax and utilities 20,918 20,362 
Printing and stationery 2,470 3,746 
Legal and professional fees 37,229 62,485 
Impairment of financial assets 10,472 5,591 
Investment properties expense 264 5,775 
Repairs and maintenance 5,338 4,095 
Security 12,180 12,562 
Staff costs (Note 9) 285,197 257,953 
Administration and other expenses 502,886 489,400 
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9. Staff Costs
2021 

  $’000 
2020 

  $’000 

Wages and salaries 227,875 202,407 
Redundancy cost - 4,037
Payroll taxes – employer’s portion 17,546 16,556
Pension costs – defined contribution 6,475 5,655 
Other staff costs 33,301 29,298 

285,197 257,953 

10. Investment Income

2021 
  $’000 

2020 
  $’000 

Interest income 59,577 26,497 
Dividend income 167 997 

59,744 27,494 

11. Other Income
2021 

  $’000 
2020 

  $’000 

Rental income 97 5,505 
Net foreign exchange gain/(loss) 39,812 (1,410) 
Gain on sale of investment properties 22,643 - 
Gain on sale of property, plant & equipment 773 7,668 
Service fees 29,093 - 
Miscellaneous income 6,343 5,893 

98,761 17,656 
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12. Taxation

Until 9 April 2020, the company’s ordinary stock units were listed on the Junior Market of the JSE, at which time
the stock units were migrated to the main market. Consequent on its junior listing until 8 April 2020, the company
was entitled to a remission of tax up to 31 March 2026 provided the shares remained listed for at least 15 years, in
the proportions set out below.

   Years 1 to 5 of listing on the junior market    100% 
   Years 6 to 10 of listing on the main market   50% 

The migration to the main market in 2020 disqualified the company from tax remission entitlements post the date of 
migration. Deferred taxes are calculated in accordance with IAS 12 based on the tax rate enacted, or substantively 
enacted at the time when a deferred tax asset is expected to be realised or a deferred liability settled.  

 Taxation is based on the result for the year adjusted for taxation purposes and represents income tax at 33⅓%. 

2021 
  $’000 

2020 
  $’000 

Current year taxation charge 37,081 - 
Deferred taxation (Note 23) 40,168 (149,833) 

77,249 (149,833) 
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12. Taxation (Continued)

Subject to agreement with Tax Administration Jamaica, the company has losses available for offset against
future taxable profits of approximately $1,263,000,000 (2020 - $1,375,095,000) which may be carried forward
indefinitely.

The tax on the company’s profit/(loss) differs from the threshold amount that would arise using the tax rate of
33⅓% as follows:

2021 
  $’000 

2020 
  $’000 

Profit/(loss) before taxation 237,638 (449,499) 

Tax calculated at a rate of 33⅓% 79,213 (149,833) 
Adjusted for the effects of: 

Income not subject to tax - (8,861)
Expenses not deductible for tax purposes 4,584 11,435
Net effect of other charges and allowance (6,548) (2,574)

Tax expense/(credit) 77,249 (149,833) 

13. Cash and Cash Equivalents

2021 
  $’000 

2020 
  $’000 

Cash at bank and in hand 657,533 290,434 
Short-term deposits (including repurchase agreements) 816,704 454,749 
Cash and cash equivalents 1,474,237 745,183 

The effective weighted average interest rates on deposits are as follows: 
 2021 

% 
2020 

% 

Jamaican dollar deposits 3.87 2.55 
United States dollar deposits 2.71 3.00 
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14. Investment Securities

 Years to Maturity 

    2021 

Within1 
year 

1 to 5  
years  

5 to 10 
years  

Over 10 
years Total 

$’000 $’000  $’000  $’000 $’000   

At fair value through other 
comprehensive income: 

Issued by: 
Government of Jamaica - 369,602 - 369,160 738,762 
Interest receivable 7,874 - - - 7,874 

Corporate - 
Bonds 33,079 - - - 33,079 
Interest receivable 334 - - - 334 

41,287 369,602 - 369,160 780,049 

 Years to Maturity 

 2020 

Within1 
year 

1 to 5  
years  

5 to 10 
years  

Over 10 
years Total 

$’000 $’000  $’000  $’000 $’000   

At fair value through other 
comprehensive income: 

Issued by: 
Government of Jamaica - - 62,564 76,113 138,677 
Interest receivable 3,087 - - - 3,087 

Corporate - 
Bonds - 30,000 - - 30,000 
Interest receivable 318 - - - 318 

3,405 30,000 62,564 76,113 172,082 

Quoted equity securities 223,592 
395,674 

Investment securities include securities with a face value of $45,000,000 (2020 - $45,000,000) which have been 
pledged with the Regulator, the Financial Services Commission, pursuant to Section 8(1)(b) of the Insurance 
Regulations, 2001.  
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15. Due from Policyholders, Brokers and Agents

         2021 
        $’000 

         2020 
        $’000 

Premium receivable 282,569 262,892 
Less: Provision for impairment (23,736) (71,962) 

258,833 190,930 

Ageing of premium receivable 

2021 2020 

$’000 $’000 

Within 1 month 46,692 22,365 
1-3 months 79,109 66,018 
Over 3 months 156,768 174,509 

282,569 262,892 

16. Due from Reinsurers
 

Amounts recoverable from reinsurers comprise:

         2021 
    $’000 

2020 
$’000 

Unearned premium - other 220,361 180,520 
Recoverable on claims outstanding 728,329 155,008 
Recoverable on claims IBNR 110,864 28,418 

1,059,554 363,946 

During the year, the company signed a Loss Portfolio Transfer (LPT) agreement where the reinsurers promise to 
cover/compensate Key Insurance Company Limited for any motor loss suffered for cases reported or those that 
have insured and not yet reported (based on actuarial report) prior to the inception date of the contract 
(1 January 2021). Balances due from reinsurers in relation to claims outstanding are due within 12 months of the 
reporting date. 

17. Other Receivables

2021 
$’000 

2020 
$’000 

Staff loans 1,394 637 
Prepayments - 18,005
Other - 11,214

1,394 29,856 

Balances relating to staff loans are due within 12 months of the reporting date. 
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18. Related Party Transactions and Balances

Parties are considered to be related if one party has the ability to control or exercise significant influence over
the other party in making financial or operational decisions.

(a) Transactions with related parties were as follows:
2021 

$’000 
2020 

$’000 

Directors’ emoluments - 
Fees 3,504 2,958 
Remuneration - 5,825

Key management compensation - 
         2021 

   $’000 
 2020 
$’000 

Wages and salaries 58,891 52,475 
Payroll taxes – employer’s portion 5,513 4,785 
Pension costs 3,291 1,748 

67,695 59,008 

Fellow subsidiaries - 
         2021 
        $’000 

 2020 
$’000 

Gross premium written - 2,241
Interest income 3,546 - 
Commission income 5,014 - 
Commission expense (30,104) (21,356) 

Ultimate parent company - 
         2021 
        $’000 

 2020 
$’000 

Interest income 4,958 - 

Interest expense (1,304) -
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18. Related Party Transactions and Balances (Continued)

(b) The statement of financial position includes the following balances with group companies:

2021 
$’000 

2020 
$’000 

Fellow subsidiaries - 
Cash and short-term investments 609,339 384 
Due from agents, brokers and policyholders 67,244 39,472 
Other payables 13,122 21,578 

2021 
$’000 

2020 
$’000 

Ultimate parent - 
Other payables 77,393 22,353 

19. Investment Properties

Investment properties related to land owned by the company.  These properties were valued at current market
value for the year ended 31 December 2020 by NAI Jamaica Langford and Brown qualified property appraisers
and valuators. The property was sold during the year.

The movement on investment properties balance during the year is as follows:
         2021 
        $’000 

 2020 
$’000 

At beginning of year 226,734 200,150 
Disposal (226,734) - 
Fair value gains - 26,584
At end of year - 226,734

The following amounts have been recognised in income in the statement of comprehensive income: 

         2021 
        $’000 

 2020 
$’000 

Rental income arising from investment properties (Note 11) 97 5,505 
Operating expenses incurred on investment properties (Note 8) 264 5,775 
Gain on sale of investment properties (Note 11) 22,643 -
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20. Intangible Assets

Computer 
Software   

   $’000 

At Cost - 
At 1 January 2020 17,790 
Additions  672 
At 1 January 2021 18,462 
Additions  1,696 
31 December 2021 20,158 

Accumulated amortisation - 
At 1 January 2020 14,153 
Amortisation 1,399 
At 1 January 2021 15,552 
Amortisation 1,590 
At 31 December 2021 17,142 

Net Book Value - 
31 December 2021 3,016 
31 December 2020 2,910 
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21. Property, Plant and Equipment

Land and 
Buildings 

Leasehold 
Improvements 

Computer 
Equipment 

Motor 
Vehicles 

Furniture 
and 

Fixtures Total 

$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 

2021 

At Cost/Valuation - 
At 1 January 190,000 24,623 54,449 9,504 51,867 330,443 
Additions - - 3,640 - 4,561 8,201 
Disposal - - - (4,372) - (4,372)
Transfer  - - (12,161) - 12,161 - 
At 31 December 190,000 24,623 45,928 5,132 68,589 334,272 

Depreciation - 
At 1 January - 21,303 39,234 4,482 33,490 98,509 
Disposal - - - (4,372) - (4,372)
Write-off - - 342 - - 342 
Charge for the year 2,500 1,955 1,524 1,642 4,643 12,264 
At 31 December 2,500 23,258 41,100 1,752 38,133 106,743 

Net Book Value - 
31 December 187,500 1,365 4,828 3,380 30,456 227,529 
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21. Property, Plant and Equipment (Continued)

Land and 
Buildings 

Leasehold 
Improvements 

Computer 
Equipment 

Motor 
Vehicles 

Furniture 
and 

Fixtures Total 

$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 

2020 

At Cost/Valuation - 
At 1 January 191,048 24,623 49,257 15,437 51,340 331,705 
Additions - - 5,192 5,133 527 10,852 
Disposal - - - (11,066) - (11,066)
Revaluation (1,048) - - - - (1,048)
At 31 December 190,000 24,623 54,449 9,504 51,867 330,443 

Depreciation - 
At 1 January 11,454 20,570 33,686 12,579 31,903 110,192 
Revaluation (13,884) - - - - (13,884) 
Disposal - - - (8,945) - (8,945)
Charge for the year 2,430 733 5,548 848 1,587 11,146
At 31 December - 21,303 39,234 4,482 33,490 98,509 

Net Book Value - 
31 December 190,000 3,320 15,215 5,022 18,377 231,934 

Land and buildings were valued at current market values as at 31 December 2020. If land and buildings were 
stated on the historical cost basis, the amounts would be as follows: 

2021 
  $’000 

2020 
$’000 

Cost 133,391 133,391 
Accumulated depreciation (11,530) (9,100) 

121,861 124,291 

22. Other Payables

2021 
  $’000 

2020 
  $’000 

Accrued expenses 99,627 103,782 
Statutory liabilities 19,483 2,884 
Due to related parties 77,393 22,353 
Other 16,702 7,260 

213,205 136,279 
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23. Deferred Taxation

Deferred income taxes are calculated in full on temporary differences under the liability method using a principal
tax rate of 33⅓%. Deferred income tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a legally enforceable right
to setoff current tax assets against current tax liabilities.

The movement in the deferred income tax account is as follows:

2021 
 $’000 

  2020 
  $’000 

At the beginning of the year 428,158 278,325 
Deferred tax charged to other comprehensive income (Note 27) (7,943) - 
Deferred tax (charged)/credited to profit or loss in the statement 

of comprehensive income (Note 12) (40,168) 149,833 
At end of year 380,047 428,158 

The movement in deferred tax assets and liabilities is as follows: 

Tax 
Losses 

Accelerated 
Tax 

Depreciation 

Revaluation 
Gains on 

Buildings 

Fair 
Value 

Reserves 
Interest 

Accrued Total 

$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 

At 1 January 2020 310,382 1,302 (32,235) - (1,124) 278,325 

Deferred tax credited to 
profit in the statement 
of comprehensive 
income 147,982 1,303 - - 548 149,833 

At 31 December 2020 458,364 2,605 (32,235) - (576) 428,158 

Deferred tax 
(charged)/credited to 
profit in the statement 
of comprehensive 
income (37,054) 317 4,975 

(12,920) 
(3,429) (48,111) 

At 31 December 2021 421,310 2,922 (27,260) (12,920) (4,005) 380,047 

    2021 
  $’000 

 

 2020 
$’000 

Deferred tax liabilities that are expected to be settled after more than 12 
months after the year end (27,260) (32,235) 

Deferred tax assets that are expected to be recovered after more than 12 
months after the year end 421,310 458,364 
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24. Insurance Reserves

2021 
$’000 

2020 
$’000 

Provision for unexpired risks 25,913 110,500 
Provision for unearned premiums 823,686 618,973 
Unearned commissions 46,974 38,230 
Provision for claims, IBNR & UCAE 519,447 645,690 
Claims outstanding 964,944 936,058 

2,380,964 2,349,451 

An actuarial valuation was performed by the company’s appointed actuary, Mid Atlantic Actuaries, to value the 
policy and claims liabilities of the company as at 31 December 2021, in accordance with the Insurance Act of 
Jamaica. The Insurance Act requires that the valuation be in accordance with accepted actuarial principles. 

Gross 
Liabilities Ceded 

Net      
Liabilities 

      2021 
      $’000 

2021 
$’000 

2021 
$’000 

Provision for unexpired risks 25,913 - 25,913
Provision for unearned premiums 823,686 220,361 603,325
Unearned commissions 46,974 - 46,974
Provision for claims IBNR & UCAE 519,447 257,018 262,429
Claims outstanding 964,944 580,614 384,330

2,380,964 1,057,993 1,322,971 

Gross 
Liabilities Ceded 

Net 
Liabilities 

2020 
$’000 

2020 
$’000 

2020 
$’000 

Provision for unexpired risks 110,500 - 110,500
Provision for unearned premiums 618,973 180,520 438,453
Unearned commissions 38,230 - 38,230
Provision for claims IBNR & UCAE 645,690 28,418 617,272
Claims outstanding 936,058 155,008 781,050

2,349,451 363,946 1,985,505 

108Annual Report 2021



Page 60

Key Insurance Company Limited 
Notes to the Financial Statements 
31 December 2021 
(expressed in Jamaican dollars unless otherwise indicated) 

24.  Insurance Reserves (Continued)

In his opinion dated 1 March 2022, the actuary found that the amount of policy and claims liabilities represented
in the statement of financial position at 31 December 2021 makes proper provision for the future payments
under the company’s policies and meets the requirements of the Insurance Act and other appropriate
regulations of Jamaica; that a proper charge on account of these liabilities has been made in the statement of
operations; and that there is not sufficient capital available to meet the solvency standards as established by the
FSC.

(a) Actuarial data
The data employed in the analysis of outstanding claims and premium liabilities was taken directly from the
company’s records. Individual items (on both a gross and net basis) used in estimating liabilities as at
31 December 2021 were as follows, grouped by each accident year from 2005 to 2021:

(i) Claims incurred and paid for accident years 2005 onwards.

(ii) Loss adjustment expenses paid for accident years 2005 onwards.

(iii) Paid and incurred large loss amounts in each accident year from 2005 onwards.

(iv) Earned premiums for each year from 2005 to 2021.

(b) Actuarial assumptions
In accordance with IFRS 4, a Liability Adequacy Test was taken into consideration in determining the
adequacy of insurance reserves reported by the company.

In applying the noted methodologies, the following assumptions were made:

(i) With respect to the analysis of incurred claims development history, the level of case reserve adequacy
is relatively consistent, in inflation adjusted terms, over the experience period.

(ii) With respect to the analysis of the net paid claims development history, the rate of payment of the
incurred losses for the recent history is indicative of future settlement patterns.

(iii) With respect to the Loss Development and Bornhuetter-Ferguson methods, the average ultimate loss
ratio for recent accident years, adjusted for claims inflation and changes in average rate level, is
representative of the expected loss ratio for the most recent accident year.

(iv) The claims inflation rate implicitly used in the valuation is equivalent to that rate which is part of historical
data.

There were no significant changes in assumptions or methods during the year. 
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24.  Insurance Reserves (Continued)

(c) Provision for adverse deviation assumptions
Any discrepancy which may ultimately arise between the statistical estimates of outstanding claims and
the actual future experience is uncertain. The basic assumptions made in establishing insurance reserves
are best estimates for a range of possible outcomes. To recognise the uncertainty in establishing these best
estimates, to allow for possible deterioration in experience and to provide greater comfort that the reserves
are adequate to pay future benefits, the appointed actuary is required to include a margin in each
assumption.

The impact of these margins is to increase reserves and so decrease the income that would be recognised
on inception of the policy. The company uses assumptions at the conservative end of the range, taking
into account the risk profiles of the business.

(d) Movement in reserves, insurance assets and deferred policy acquisition cost

2021 
$’000 

2020 
$’000 

      Unexpired risk reserve: 
At the beginning of the year  110,500 142,209 
Recognised in profit or loss  (84,587) (31,709) 
At the end of the year 25,913 110,500 

Provision for unearned premium: 
At the beginning of the year 618,973 480,070 
Premiums written during the year 1,914,966 1,432,083 
Premiums earned during the year (1,710,253) (1,293,180) 
At the end of the year 823,686 618,973 

Unearned commissions: 
At the beginning of the year 38,230 32,053 

Commissions on reinsurance premium written 
   during the year 105,349 166,102 

Earned commission recognised in profit or loss (96,605) (159,925) 
At the end of the year 46,974 38,230 
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24.  Insurance Reserves (Continued)

(e) Change in insurance liabilities

2021 
$’000 

2020 
$’000 

  Provision for claims IBNR, net: 
At the beginning of the year       617,272 333,195 
Current year recognised as part of claims expense – 

  IBNR, net (126,242) (100,782) 
Current year not recognised as part of claims expense – 

  IBNR recoverable (146,155) 390,754 
Current year recognised as part of claims expense – 

 IBNR recoverable (82,446) (5,895) 
At the end of the year 262,429 617,272 

Gross Claims Outstanding: 
At the beginning of the year 936,058 760,160 
Recognised as part of claims expense in profit or loss 779,781 786,420 
Gross amount paid during the year (750,895) (610,522) 
At the end of the year 964,944 936,058 

Deferred policy acquisition cost: 
At the beginning of the year 62,622 138,703 
Commissions on premium written during the year 180,730 183,117 
Direct premium expense incurred during the year (160,395) (171,328) 
Change in deferred acquisition cost during year - (87,870)
At the end of the year 82,957 62,622 

Unearned reinsurance premiums 
At the beginning of the year 180,520 385,060 
Reinsurance premium ceded 599,099 489,715 
Reinsurance premium incurred during the year (559,258) (694,255) 
At the end of the year 220,361 180,520 
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24. Insurance Reserves (Continued)

(f) Sensitivity analysis

The determination of the actuarial liabilities is heavily dependent on loss development factors, which are
used to estimate the ultimate liability for each claim. In determining the loss development factors, the
actuaries review patterns in relation to incurred and paid claims, as well as loss ratios for various lines of
business. Management considers a 10% loss development ratio as a reasonably possible change.  The
table below shows the amounts by which gross and net IBNR will change, resulting from a 10% change in
loss development factors.

2021 

Gross IBNR Net IBNR 

$’000 $’000 

10% increase in loss development 1,128 264 
10% decrease in loss development (266) (222)

2020 

Gross 
IBNR Net IBNR 

$’000 $’000 

10% increase in loss development 26,727 24,808 
10% decrease in loss development (29,404)  (27,292) 

25. Share Capital

2021 
$’000 

2020 
$’000 

Authorised - 
700,000,000 (2020 – 700,000,000) ordinary stock units 

Issued and fully paid - 

559,323,101 (2020 – 368,460,863) ordinary stock units at no par value 903,300 235,282 

In January 2021, the company raised $668 million by way of a rights issue whereby an additional 190,862,238 
ordinary stock units were issued to new and existing stockholders.  

26. Capital Reserve

2021 
$’000 

2020 
$’000 

 At end of year 57,371 57,371 

During 2014, land and buildings with a value of $110,000,000 was transferred to the company to settle related 
party debt of $53,629,000. The amount recognised in capital reserve relates to the excess value over the 
receivables.  
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27. Fair Value Reserves

This represents unrealised gains and losses on the valuation of investments at fair value through other
comprehensive income, investment properties and property, plant and equipment, net of deferred taxes. Fair value
gains on investment properties were transferred from the fair value reserve to retained earnings subsequent to the
disposal of all the investment properties held by the company.

2021 
$’000 

2020 
$’000 

At beginning of year 479,936 459,469 
Impairment on FVOCI debt instruments - 4,440
Fair value losses on investment through OCI (4,723) (23,393)
Fair value gains on investment properties - 26,584
Revaluation gains on property, plant and equipment - 12,836
Realised gains on disposal of investment properties  

transferred to retained earnings (405,165)     - 
Deferred tax charged to other comprehensive income 

(Note 23) (7,943)  - 
At end of year 62,105 479,936 

28. Earnings Per Stock Unit

2021 2020 

Net profit/(loss) from operations ($’000) 160,389 (299,666) 

Weighted average number of ordinary stock units used 
in the denominator in calculating basic earnings per 
stock unit (‘000)  537,884 368,461 
Earnings per stock unit        $0.30  ($0.81) 
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29. Segment Information

Management has determined the operating segments based on the reports reviewed by the General Manager
(GM) that are used to make strategic decisions.

The accounting policies of the operating segments are the same as those described in the summary of significant
accounting policies.

The operating segments are Motor and Non-Motor classes of insurance premium written. These two segments
represent the company’s strategic business units. The strategic business units offer different products and are
managed separately because they require among other things, different marketing strategies. For each of the
strategic business units, the company’s GM reviews internal management reports on at least a monthly basis.
These reports do not include details of segment assets. The following summary describes the operations in each
of the company’s reportable segments: motor and non-motor classes. The company sells motor policies, and these
range from comprehensive cover to third party act policies. The non-motor class comprises liability, property,
engineering, travel, personal accident and miscellaneous accident classes. There are no inter-divisional sales.

Information regarding the results of each reportable segment is included below.  Performance is measured based
on segment underwriting gain/(loss), as included in the internal management reports that are reviewed by the
company’s General Manager.
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29. Segment Information (Continued)

Segment results is used to measure performance as management believes that such information is the most
relevant in evaluating the results of certain segments relative to other entities that operate within these industries.

The company’s operations are located entirely in Jamaica.

2021 

Motor Non-Motor Total 

$’000 $’000 $’000 

Gross premiums written 1,372,259 542,707 1,914,966 
      Reinsurance ceded (110,072) (489,027) (599,099) 
      Net premiums written 1,262,187 53,680 1,315,867 

Underwriting expenses (1,144,098) (92,636) (1,236,734) 

Underwriting gain/(loss) 118,089 (38,956) 79,133 

 No single customer accounted for 10% or more of total gross premium of the company either in 2021 or in 2020. 

2020 

Motor Non-Motor Total 

$’000 $’000 $’000 

Gross premiums written 989,389 442,694 1,432,083 
      Reinsurance ceded (43,141) (446,574) (489,715) 

     Net premiums written 946,248 (3,880) 942,368 
Amortisation of underwriting assets (300,266) (22,870) (323,136) 
Underwriting expenses (1,076,145) (64,320) (1,140,465) 

Underwriting loss (430,163) (91,070) (521,233) 
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30. Contingency

The company is involved in certain legal proceedings incidental to the normal course of business. Management
believes that none of these legal proceedings, individually or in aggregate, will have a material effect on the
company.

31. Leases

(a) Amounts recognised in the statement of financial position

The statement of financial position shows the following amounts relating to right of use asset and leases:

2021 2020 

$’000 $’000 

Right-of-use asset 
       Property 10,124 6,575 
Lease liability 

  Current 7,511 6,218 
       Non-current 3,471 2,430 

10,982 8,648 

(b) Amounts recognised in the statement of comprehensive income

The statement of comprehensive income shows the following amounts relating to right of use asset and
lease liability:

2021 2020 

$’000 $’000 

Depreciation charge of right-of-use assets 
    Property 9,003 11,233 

Interest expense 1,204 992 

Liabilities from financing activity – lease 

2021 2020 

$’000 $’000 

Lease liability at the beginning of the year 8,648 18,950 
Addition during the year  13,476 - 
Cash flows (12,346) (11,294) 
Interest expense  1,204 992 
Lease liability at the end of the year 10,982 8,648 
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31. Leases (Continued)

(c) The company’s leasing activities
The company leases various offices which serve as branches. Rental contracts are typically made for fixed
periods of 12 months to 5 years but may have extension options as described in (d) below.

Contracts may contain both lease and non-lease components. The company allocates the consideration in
the contract to the lease and non-lease components based on their relative stand-alone prices. However,
for leases of real estate for which the company is a lessee, it has elected not to separate lease and non-
lease components and instead accounts for these as a single lease component.

Lease terms are negotiated on an individual basis and contain a wide range of different terms and
conditions. The lease agreements do not impose any covenants other than the security interests in the
leased assets that are held by the lessor. Leased assets may not be used as security for borrowing
purposes.

The company is exposed to potential future increases in variable lease payments based on an index or
rate, which are not included in the lease liability until they take effect. When adjustments to lease
payments based on an index or rate take effect, the lease liability is reassessed and adjusted against the
right-of-use asset.

(d) Extension and termination options
Extension and termination options are included in a number of property leases across the company.
These are used to maximise operational flexibility in terms of managing the assets used in the company’s
operations. Extension and termination options held are exercisable only by the company and not by the
respective lessor.

32. Amortisation of Underwriting Assets

Following the acquisition in March 2020 of the majority shareholding in the company by GraceKennedy
Financial Group Limited and the appointment of a new Board of Directors and Senior Management effective
31 March 2020, the Motor Quota Share Reinsurance Agreement (the MQS Agreement) was reviewed and
terminated on 6 April 2020 with an effective date of 1 January 2020. The Agreement made no provision for
the payment of cash or the settlement of outstanding balances upon termination and hence was terminated
without recourse by either party to the Agreement.  The review and termination of this Agreement were
completed as part of the restructuring plan for the company’s operations and the streamlining of its
underwriting business to make it more profitable on a go forward basis.  Upon termination of the Agreement,
Management accelerated the amortisation of certain underwriting assets resulting in a one-time charge of
$323 million in profit or loss for the year, comprising $235 million relating to the terminated Agreement and
an amount $88 million relating to Deferred Policy Acquisition Costs.

117Annual Report 2021



Page 69

Key Insurance Company Limited 
Notes to the Financial Statements 
31 December 2021 
(expressed in Jamaican dollars unless otherwise indicated) 

33. Impact of Covid-19

The outbreak of the novel Coronavirus (COVID-19) became a pandemic in March 2020 and has adversely
affected the global economy and way of life.

The continuous impact of COVID-19 on the company’s operations and future financial performance are
reviewed periodically by the Board and Management with mitigating strategies implemented to reduce any
negative effects.  The pandemic and the measures to control its human impact have resulted in disruptions to
the Jamaican economic activities, business operations and to the insurance industry.  The company continues
to review its credit and financial risks while continuing to contain costs and manage cash flows.

Management has considered the consequences of COVID-19 pandemic as well as other events and
conditions, and it has determined that they do not create additional material uncertainty that casts significant
doubt upon the entity’s ability to continue as a going concern.

The Board and Management continue to assess the pandemic and implement measures to cauterize any
impact from the pandemic.
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FORM OF PROXY  

I/We                                   of being a member of Key Insurance Company Limited hereby appoint* 
or failing him/her of as our proxy to vote for us on our behalf at the Annual General Meeting of the 
Company to be held virtually on Tuesday, 21st  June 2022, at 2:00 p.m., pursuant to an Order of 

the Supreme Court of Jamaica dated October 21, 2020, and at any adjournment thereof.   

Unless otherwise instructed, the proxy will vote as he/she thinks fit.  
  

*Given the prevailing circumstances shareholders are encouraged to appoint the Chairman or 

Company Secretary as their proxy.  

  

Dated this ............................... day of ..............................…………………… 2022  

    

  

  

Place  

Stamp  

Here  

J$100  
  

  

…………………………………………….  

Signature  

  

…………………………………………….   

Signature   

 

 

In the case of a body corporate, this form should be executed under seal in accordance with the 
company’s Articles.  

 

 

Note:  To be valid this proxy must be deposited with the Corporate Secretary of the Company at 
6C Half-Way-Tree Road, Kingston 5 not less than 48 hours before the time appointed for holding 
the meeting.  A Proxy need not be a member of the Company.  
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